Linking People with Opioid Use Disorder to Medication Treatment:







A Resource for Action of Policy, Programs, and Practices







Linking People with Opioid Use Disorder to Medication Treatment:

A Resource for Action of Policy, Programs, and Practices

Authors:

Jennifer J. Carroll, PhD, MPH Alice Asher, PhD Vikram Krishnasamy, MD, MPH Deborah Dowell, MD, MPH

2022

National Center for Injury Prevention and Control Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Atlanta, Georgia

Acknowledgements

The concept of this paper was developed with the help of the Linkage to Care Workgroup: Sarah Bacon, Amanda McWhorter, Lindsay Culp, Dita Broz, Brian Edlin, Henrietta Kuoh, Puja Seth, Brenda Richards, Brenna VanFrank, Robert Montierth, Teresa Brown, Deborah Gould, Amy Lansky, Jacquelyn Bertrand, Rashid Njai, and Deana Campbell. Wanda Barfield, Shanna Cox, Molly Evans, Senad Handanagic, Trisha Mueller, Sharon Tsay also provided contributions to this document.

This prevention resource is a product of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) located in Atlanta, Georgia.

Suggested Citation:

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Linking People with Opioid Use Disorder to Medication Treatment: A Resource for Action of Policy, Programs, and Practices*. National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Department of Health and Human Services, 2022.

Table of Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	5
1. INTRODUCTION	6
1.1 What Is a Prevention Resource?	6
1.2 Overview	6
1.3 Medication for OUD Is Evidence-based Care	6
1.4 MOUD Access Challenges in the United States	7
2. A CASCADE OF CARE FOR OUD	9
2.1 Primary and Secondary Prevention	9
2.2 Diagnosing OUD	10
2.3 Engaging in Care	11
2.4 Initiating MOUD	11
2.5 Long-term Retention in Treatment with MOUD	12
2.6 Treatment Outcomes	12
2.7 Building a Recovery-oriented System of Care (ROSC)	12
3. OPPORTUNITIES TO LINK CARE	14
3.1 Primary Care	14
3.2 Emergency Departments	15
3.3 Inpatient Hospitalization	16
3.4 Syringe Services Programs	18
3.5 Prenatal and Postpartum Care	20
3.6 Outpatient Mental Health and Behavioral Health Services	21
3.7 Health Care Settings During Incarceration and Community Supervision	22
4. BEST PRACTICES ACROSS POPULATIONS	24
4.1 Persons Who Were Recently Incarcerated	24
4.2 Tribal Communities and Indigenous Persons	24
4.3 People Living with Past Trauma	25
4.4 Adolescents.	26
4.5 Transgender and Gender-Minority Populations	26
4.6 Sex Workers	27
5. BARRIERS AND FACILITATORS OF TREATMENT ACCESS	28
5.1 Known Barriers to Treatment Access	28
5.2 Known Facilitators of Treatment Access	29
References	31

Executive Summary

Millions of Americans are living with opioid use disorder (OUD). Fortunately, medications for opioid use disorder (MOUD) approved by the Food and Drug Administration can effectively treat OUD, reduce illicit opioid use or prescription opioid misuse, and lower the risk of opioid-related harms, including transmission of viral hepatitis and HIV, overdose, and death.

Effective linkage to evidence-based care with MOUD is vital for patient health and for public health. This document offers guidance for developing and implementing effective linkage to care strategies for health care professionals and other community leaders in public health, education, criminal justice, social services, business, and government who are striving to increase access and linkage to MOUD.

Outpatient care programs, hospital departments (including emergency departments), harm reduction and syringe services programs, and criminal justice settings all present opportunities for linkage to care. Each opportunity described in this document is presented alongside established best practices and summaries of current research. Organizations that have developed innovative approaches for linking patients

with MOUD are highlighted, offering real-world examples to help guide and inspire action. This document also offers practical advice for providing trauma-informed and culturally appropriate care to certain populations at increased risk of OUD and other opioid-related harms.

People living with OUD face numerous challenges that limit their access to evidence-based care. Health care professionals regularly miss opportunities to engage patients about OUD, few consider how to address OUD within their practice, and still fewer offer MOUD. Further, many people seeking treatment for OUD cannot access MOUD. Significant disparities in access to MOUD persist, and many Americans live in areas where MOUD are not available.

Maximizing opportunities for linkage to care already present in our current healthcare systems, as this document describes, can help improve community health and reduce the impact of OUD across populations. Linking those living with OUD to effective treatments will reduce substance use in communities, lower rates of infectious disease, and prevent early death from overdose of opioids and other drugs.

1. Introduction



1.1 What is a Prevention Resource?

A prevention resource, formerly known as a technical package, is a compilation of core strategies to reduce a specific risk factor or prevent a specific outcome. 1 It is designed to help state, local, and tribal leaders—particularly health care professionals and other community leaders in public health, education, criminal justice, social services, business, and government—to prioritize prevention activities based on the best available evidence. This technical package has four main components. The first describes opportunities for linkage to care, including the rationale for considering each opportunity. The second describes the approach to each opportunity. It includes brief descriptions of the rationale ("why this is a promising opportunity") and best practices for taking advantage of this opportunity ("linking to care works best when..."). The third includes evidence for each of the included opportunity for linkage to care ("what the research says"). Lastly, a sample of programs currently leveraging these opportunities for linkage to care ("examples of these principles in practice") has been described below each opportunity, highlighting organizations that have successfully innovated and/or implemented linkage to evidence-based care for opioid use disorder (OUD) in the United States.

Alongside these main components, this prevention resource includes supplementary information describing (a) a cascade of care for OUD; (b) information about the social, structural, and epidemiological features of OUD, which shape patient needs and concerns, especially among those with unique characteristics and backgrounds; and (c) known barriers and facilitators of evidence-based treatment for OUD, which may affect patient trajectories through the cascade of care.

This package is a resource to inform decision-making among those working in or connected to healthcare systems in state, local, and tribal communities. The opportunities described in this document are useful for linking people living with OUD to effective, evidence-based treatment through existing health care and public health services. However, this package is not an exhaustive list. Strategies and evidence for linking people to care for OUD will evolve along with the opioid overdose epidemic.

1.2 Overview

This prevention resource presents strategies that can help state, local, and tribal leaders and healthcare professionals link persons living with OUD to evidence-based care. Strategies are based on the best available evidence. This document covers the following opportunities for linkage to care:

- · Primary care
- Emergency departments
- Inpatient hospitalization
- Syringe services programs (SSPs)
- Prenatal and postpartum care
- · Outpatient mental health and behavioral health care
- Healthcare settings during incarceration and community supervision

Implementation strategies described in this document focus on creating successful, sustainable, and culturally competent approaches to linking people living with OUD to evidence-based care. Commitment, cooperation, and leadership from multiple sectors, including public health, education, criminal justice, health care, social services, business, labor, and government are key to their implementation.

1.3 Medication for OUD Is Evidence-Based Care

Compared to non-pharmacological therapies, people receiving medications for OUD (MOUD), which are evidence-based pharmacological treatments for OUD, remain in treatment longer and have reduced illicit opioid use or prescription opioid misuse.²⁻⁴ Currently, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has approved three medications to treat OUD (see Box 1.1). Both the full mu opioid receptor agonist methadone and the partial mu opioid receptor agonist buprenorphine bind to opioid receptors in the brain, preventing painful opioid withdrawal symptoms without causing euphoria. The third medication, naltrexone, is a mu opioid receptor antagonist that prevents all opioids from

binding to opioid receptors. Through these mechanisms, MOUD quells cravings, reduces the use of injection opioids, and dramatically lowers the risk of opioid-related harms, including transmission of viral hepatitis or HIV, and overdose.

MOUD has traditionally been referred to as MAT, or medicationassisted treatment, based on the premise that medications could assist non-pharmacological cognitive and behavioral therapies in treating OUD. However, compared to other forms of treatment based solely on counseling, psychotherapy, social support, or behavioral therapy, buprenorphine and methadone stand out consistently as effective treatments for OUD and for preventing overdose.^{6,7} A review of randomized controlled trials on the effect of cognitive and behavioral interventions among people receiving buprenorphine-based treatment (a form of MOUD) found the medication itself was the most critical component in all evaluated treatment programs.8 MOUD with opioid agonist medications is also the gold standard of care for OUD during pregnancy (there is insufficient scientific evidence to assess the safety of the opioid antagonist medication naltrexone during pregnancy).9 Thus, treatment programs that adopt a medication-first, low-barrier approach (i.e., placing low expectations on persons wishing to begin treatment) are crucial for helping persons access and initiate MOUD treatment.

Many factors should be considered when selecting a MOUD for treatment. This decision is made best by patients and health care professionals working together to identify the most effective treatment plan for each person and their unique circumstances and desires.

1.4 Challenges with OUD and Treatment Capacity in the United States

The need for effective, accessible treatments for OUD in the United States is large. The 2020 National Survey on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH) showed that about 2.7 million people in the United States who are 12 years old or older, not experiencing homelessness, and not incarcerated or institutionalized, met the diagnostic criteria for a past-year OUD. This number underestimates U.S. residents living with OUD, given that more than 500,000 people are experiencing homelessness (including 1 in 3 military veterans living with OUD 12). Further, NSDUH does not survey the approximately 2.3 million people who are incarcerated in the United States. Most people who are incarcerated meet criteria for a substance use disorder. Health

Fewer than one-third of those who initiate treatment for a substance use disorder in the United States receive medication.¹⁸ The need for treatment with MOUD outpaces the current capacity for care,¹⁹ and access to MOUD is not spread equally across the United States. The average person lives 22.7 miles away from a health care facility that provides at least one MOUD and accepts Medicaid; in non-coastal states with lower population density, the average distance to such a facility often exceeds 50 miles.²⁰

Systemic racism, including policymakers' preference for criminalization versus the provision of evidence-based care across racial groups, has also produced unequal access to MOUD.²¹ For example, between 2012 and 2015, 12.7 million (95 percent) of the 13.4 million office visits for buprenorphine nationwide were made by white persons; the remaining 5 percent of visits made by people from all other racial and ethnic groups combined.²² Even though rates of OUD have historically been higher among white populations,²³ studies have found substantial racial disparities in access to MOUD among those living with OUD across racial groups. A study of pregnant people with OUD who delivered a live infant in Massachusetts between 2011 and 2015 found that, compared to non-Hispanic white people, Black non-Hispanic and Hispanic people had less than half the odds of receiving any MOUD during pregnancy.²⁴ Another study of Medicaid enrollees diagnosed with OUD found a rate of MOUD initiation in Black persons 18 percent lower than their White counterparts.²⁵ Rates of overdose death are now growing faster among Non-Hispanic Black adults than among any other racial or ethnic group.26,27

Finally, persons living with OUD are increasingly involved in polysubstance use or are experiencing other substance use disorders simultaneously. ^{28,29} Co-occurring substance use disorders can affect treatment outcomes for OUD and for other mental and behavioral disorders. ^{28,30} Connection to other support services that attend to co-occurring conditions, pursued in tandem with MOUD, is essential for those experiencing multiple disorders.

While this document outlines strategies for effective linkage to MOUD, these strategies do not ensure that treatment will be available for those who need it. As a result, expanding local treatment capacity is necessary when implementing strategies for linkage to care. Strategies for increasing treatment capacity at the local level, including financing, workforce, and professional support are detailed elsewhere.^{31–33}

Box1.1 Medications for Opioid Use Disorder (MOUD) -

Methadone

- Methadone has been shown to effectively treat OUD in multiple clinical trials.^{2,34–36}
- Methadone has been shown to be more effective as a MOUD when offered at doses above 60mg per day³⁷ and when provided as a long-term maintenance treatment, rather than used in a short-term taper.^{2,38}
- Methadone is a full mu opioid receptor agonist (i.e., it binds to mu opioid receptors and produces a full effect). Thus, increasing doses of methadone will produce increasing pharmacological effects, including respiratory depression.⁵
- Treatment of OUD with methadone has been shown to protect patients against fatal overdose and other causes of mortality. A patient's risk of death from overdose or other causes tends to increase after the cessation of treatment.^{2,7,36,39}

Buprenorphine

- Buprenorphine is an effective treatment for OUD and is associated with treatment outcomes similar to methadone. 3,36,40,41
- Multiple studies have shown that buprenorphine is most effective as a treatment for OUD when used long-term—not as a short-term taper, even if that taper is stretched out over as many as 12 weeks.^{42,43}
- Buprenorphine is a partial mu opioid receptor agonist (i.e., it binds to mu opioid receptors and produces a partial effect), which means that increasing doses of it will not necessarily produce increasing pharmacological effects, such as respiratory depression, after a certain point. This is often called a "ceiling effect."
- Buprenorphine has been shown to protect against fatal overdose and other causes of mortality while a patient remains in treatment with MOUD.^{7,36}
- Emerging evidence suggests that buprenorphine may be associated with improved fetal health indicators, compared to methadone, when used to treat OUD during pregnancy.^{44,45}

Naltrexone

- Naltrexone is a full mu opioid receptor antagonist (i.e. it binds to mu opioid receptors, produces zero opioid effects, and blocks the effect of opioids). Its mechanism of action as a MOUD is different than that of methadone and buprenorphine.⁵
- Naltrexone is the most recent FDA-approved MOUD. Research into its use as a treatment for OUD is ongoing and limited compared to that for methadone and buprenorphine.
- Studies have shown naltrexone to be a well-tolerated medication with few side effects that produces better protection against returning to substance use compared to placebo. 4,46
- Naltrexone is available as an oral tablet and as an extended-release intramuscular injection given every 4 weeks. Patients should be abstinent from opioids for 7 to 10 days prior to starting naltrexone to avoid precipitating opioid withdrawal.⁴⁷
- A 2018 study comparing extended-release intramuscular injection naltrexone to buprenorphine as treatment for OUD showed that 1 in 4 patients assigned to naltrexone did not successfully complete induction onto naltrexone (i.e., they did not succeed in achieving a therapeutic dose of naltrexone while using ancillary medication to manage withdrawal symptoms before dropping out of treatment). In comparison, 1 in 20 patients assigned to buprenorphine did not complete induction. However, reduced rates of return to substance use were observed among patients who did successfully complete induction on naltrexone, similar to patients who received buprenorphine.⁴⁸
- A large observational study showed that patients with OUD treated with naltrexone were twice as likely to discontinue treatment after 30 days compared to patients receiving buprenorphine via a sublingual buprenorphine/naloxone formulation.⁴⁹
- Three large studies have found that naltrexone is not associated with decreased risk of overdose or other causes of mortality.^{36,50,51} A fourth study found the risk of overdose among patients receiving extended-release naltrexone to be nearly 4 times higher than the risk of overdose among patients receiving buprenorphine/naloxone.⁵²
- In 2019, the FDA issued a statement highlighting the increased risk of overdose following the cessation of naltrexone treatment.⁵³

Please refer to **SAMHSA's Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP) 63** for more detailed information about the pharmacology, mechanisms of action, side effects, drug-drug interactions, and other clinical characteristics of the three FDA-approved MOUD.⁵⁴

2. A Cascade of Care for OUD



A cascade of care framework is a useful model for conceptualizing the logistical and therapeutic processes required for successfully treating chronic illness.⁵⁵ This framework can be applied to OUD to illustrate how patients can connect to and then progress through treatment for OUD, and how each step in the cascade can be designed to meet a patient's needs, preferences, and OUD severity.

A 2018 American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse article outlined an OUD care cascade with these stages: (1) primary prevention, (2) secondary prevention, (3) living with undiagnosed OUD, (4) OUD diagnosis, (5) engagement in care, (6) initiation of MOUD, (7) long-term retention in care, and (8) remission. ⁵⁶ Each stage is discussed below.

2.1 Primary and Secondary Prevention

According to recent estimates from the U.S. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA), more than 2.7 million Americans 12 years old or older met the diagnostic criteria for a past-year OUD in 2020. The surveys upon which these estimates are based do not include incarcerated populations, unhoused persons not living in shelters, or those who are in institutionalized settings, and may underestimate the burden of OUD in the United States by as much as 50 percent. Those living with OUD may also experience challenges that increase the risk for overdose, including income inequality, unemployment, unequal access to health care, elevated arrest rates, geographic disparities in access to essential health services, and racism. A rapidly evolving and unpredictable illicit drug market in the United States creates an even greater risk for overdose.

Though OUD can affect any person at any stage of life, populations with the following characteristics have historically experienced a higher-than-average risk for developing OUD and for an opioid overdose:

- Aged 18 to 35 years⁶²
- History of adverse childhood experiences⁶³
- Psychiatric comorbidities⁶⁴
- Pre-occurring or co-occurring substance use or other mental disorders, including post-traumatic stress disorder^{65,66}
- Prior involvement with the criminal justice system,⁶⁷ especially recent release from incarceration⁶⁸⁻⁷⁰
- Prescribed higher dosages (above 50mg/day of morphine or equivalent) of opioids for pain care⁷¹
- Prescribed or otherwise use of benzodiazepines or skeletal muscle relaxants while using opioids for any reason⁷²
- Exposure to fentanyl through the use of fentanyl or the use of fentanyl-contaminated opioid or non-opioid substances^{61,73}
- Past non-fatal overdose^{74–76}
- Family history of substance use disorders^{77,78}

A humane, compassionate, and nonjudgmental encounter with a clinician or with another trusted service provider can be a place to start discussing OUD concerns, especially considering that stigma from healthcare professionals is a known barrier to care for OUD.^{79–83} Healthcare professionals can also support secondary prevention of overdose and other health consequences of OUD through linkage to MOUD and through providing naloxone to at-risk patients.^{84–86}

2.2 Diagnosing OUD

Multiple evidence-based tools exist for OUD screening, many of which are available online through the National Institute on Drug Abuse (See Box 2.1).⁸⁷ Many of these tools can be administered by a clinician or self-administered by a patient. The American Society of Addiction Medicine also offers online webinars and training modules designed to prepare clinicians to screen for substance use disorders.⁸⁸

Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5) criteria should be used to diagnose OUD (see Text Box 2.2). An easy-to-use checklist of these criteria for clinical settings is available online both as an appendix of the SAMHSA Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP 63)⁵ and from the American Society of Addiction Medicine.⁸⁹

Box 2.1 Tools for OUD Screening and Assessment of OUD Severity

Screening is not equivalent to diagnosis. Screening allows clinicians and patients to identify risk factors for a condition; however, its results are not conclusive of a diagnosis.

Several different tools can be used in various treatment settings to screen patients for OUD. The National Institute on Drug Abuse has cataloged several validated tools for assessing opioid use, alcohol use, and other substance use-related issues, including:⁸⁷

- Screening to Brief Intervention (S2BI)
- Brief Screener for Alcohol, Tobacco, and Other Drugs (BSTAD)
- Tobacco, Alcohol, Prescription Medication, and Other Substance Use (TAPS)
- NIDA Drug Use Screening Tool: Quick Screen (NMASSIST)
- CAGE-AID
- CRAFFT
- Drug Abuse Screen Test (DAST-10)
- Drug Abuse Screen Test (DAST-20: Adolescent Version)

Box 2.2 DSM-5 Criteria for Opioid Use Disorder

The American Psychiatric Association developed the DSM-5 handbook to provide a standardized approach to diagnosing mental and behavioral disorders.⁹⁰

The DSM-5⁹¹ characterizes an OUD as the persistence of at least two of these 11 criteria over 12 months:

- · opioids taken in larger amounts for longer than intended;
- persistent desire or unsuccessful efforts to lessen or control opioid use;
- excessive time spent on obtaining and using the opioid, or recovering from its effects;
- craving or strong desire to use opioids;
- recurrent opioid use resulting in the failure to fulfill major obligations at work, school, or home;
- continued use despite persistent or recurrent social and interpersonal problems caused or exacerbated by the effects of opioids;
- giving up or reducing important social or occupational activities because of opioid use;
- recurrent opioid use in physically hazardous situations;
- continued opioid use despite knowledge of persistent or recurrent physical or psychological problems it has likely caused or exacerbated;
- tolerance, defined by either (a) a need for increased amounts of opioids to achieve desired effects or (b) diminished effect with continued use of the same amount of opioid; and
- withdrawal, meaning due to either (a) characteristic opioid withdrawal syndrome or (b) the same (or related) substance taken to relieve or avoid withdrawal symptoms.

According to the DSM-5, the more criteria that are met, the greater the severity of OUD.91

2.3 Engaging in Care

The term "engagement in care" has many definitions. ⁹² In this document, it refers to a patient's motivated interest in resolving a health care issue (here, an interest in receiving treatment for OUD) and commitment—given freely and without duress—to discuss, explore, and initiate beneficial treatment modalities, all in partnership with a healthcare professional.

Enhancing linkages to care for OUD often requires a view of health care that considers every interaction as an opportunity for engagement. The Canadian Mental Health Association has promoted this way of thinking with the motto, "Every door is the right door." From this perspective, engagement in care should not be about getting patients in need to the right place; rather, it's about identifying patients in need in every place where healthcare, social services, or other service-based interactions exist. Research has shown that engaging patients in evidence-based treatment for OUD is more successful when:

- Entry into treatment is voluntary.94
- People have access to multiple FDA-approved MOUDs, as some will fare better on one medication than on others.
- Delays in initiating treatment, such as those caused by prior authorization requirements, are avoided or removed.⁹⁶
- Initiation of MOUD occurs immediately (instead of providing a referral to community care for ongoing treatment).⁹⁷ With coaching from a health care professional, allowing for induction onto buprenorphine to be completed at home, without clinical supervision, is a viable option for most people.^{98–101}

Emerging evidence shows that peer-recovery models, in which a trained person with lived experience of a substance use disorder acts as both a form of social support and a patient navigator, are easily integrated into existing services (both mobile and brick and mortar). These models can increase patient engagement in OUD-related care. 102-104 A collaboration between Lifespan Health System and Anchor Recovery in Rhode Island is one of the longest running peer-recovery partnerships for linkage to OUD care in the United States. 85,105

2.4 Initiating MOUD

In the United States, buprenorphine may be prescribed by physicians, nurse practitioners (NPs), physician assistants (PAs), Clinical Nurse Specialists (CNSs), Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetists (CRNAs), and Certified Nurse-Midwives (CNMs) according to regulations set by SAMHSA.¹⁰⁶ These eligible prescribers may offer buprenorphine induction

from their office or, alternatively, may write a short-term buprenorphine prescription and instruct patients on proper home induction. Methadone can only be dispensed or administered from SAMHSA-certified opioid treatment programs (OTPs). Maltrexone can be prescribed by any healthcare professional who is licensed to prescribe medicines in the state in which they practice and who is operating within their scope of practice. OTPs can also dispense or administer buprenorphine and naltrexone and are not subject to patient limits for buprenorphine. In 2021, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services published buprenorphine practice guidelines that waive the training requirement for practitioners who wish to prescribe buprenorphine under the 30-patient limit.

As with any healthcare concern, not all MOUD initiation needs or circumstances are alike. The following items should be considered when planning MOUD initiation:

- All patients should have access to the full spectrum of FDA-approved MOUDs, as no single medication is perfect for every person.⁴⁸
- Treatment with opioid agonist MOUDs is protective against death even when patients have a history of fentanyl exposure and even if abstinence from opioid use is not achieved.¹¹¹
- Timely access to MOUD is a strong predictor of retention in treatment.^{112,113}
- MOUD initiation during periods of high stress (e.g., postoverdose) requires careful attention to patients' needs and desires to ensure they do not feel coerced into taking medication they do not want.¹¹⁴
- Medically supervised withdrawal (detoxification) does not, by itself, constitute evidence-based treatment for OUD and may increase a patient's risk of overdose if not immediately followed by initiation of MOUD.¹¹⁵⁻¹¹⁷ Medically supervised withdrawal units can be repurposed as "medication initiation units," where patients are provided with a warm handoff (a transfer in care that is completed in person in front of the patient and, when appropriate, the patient's family) to community care for ongoing treatment with MOUD upon discharge.¹¹⁸ Medically supervised withdrawal is associated with high rates of return to substance use and is not recommended during pregnancy.⁹
- People living with OUD face various barriers to treatment, including poor treatment from healthcare professionals.
 Expanding opportunities to access MOUD from other trusted service providers (such as SSPs) outside the traditional clinic or medical setting is important.^{119,120}

2.5 Long Term Retention in Treatment with MOUD

Treatment with opioid agonist MOUD reduces the risk of fatal overdose.^{6,7} Further, each MOUD has additional benefits, which may include the following: reducing opioid use,^{2,121,122} preventing HIV transmission,¹²³ improving birth outcomes for pregnant people and newborns,¹²⁴ and preventing viral hepatitis transmission.¹²⁵ Outcomes are stronger the longer someone is retained in care.^{36,126} Therefore, patients must receive the information, services, and support they need to remain in effective, evidence-based forms of care. The following items can be considered when supporting retention in MOUD treatment:

- The amount of time someone remains on MOUD is often based on the quality of care or services received when treatment began.¹²⁷
- Patients taking methadone who receive a daily dosage of 60mg or higher stay in treatment longer than patients who receive dosages below 60mg per day.^{128,129}
- Higher daily dosages of buprenorphine are associated with better treatment retention.^{130,131}
- Engaging in social supports or behavioral health interventions alongside MOUD does not consistently improve treatment outcomes and may not be an appropriate requirement or pre-requisite for MOUD.^{132,133}
- OUD is a chronic, relapsing disease. Those living with OUD are likely to return to substance use or to drop out of treatment multiple times along their path to recovery. Each subsequent re-enrollment in treatment for patients who had previously dropped out results in better retention and outcomes.¹²⁹

2.6 Treatment Outcomes

Treatment goals pursued through MOUDs may vary among patients. The last decade has seen a new emphasis on patient-centered outcomes, which center the needs, preferences, and beliefs of individual patients in medical treatment and research. ^{134,135} Similarly, Dan Bigg, an early pioneer of naloxone

distribution for overdose prevention, has observed that person-centered services designed to empower those who use drugs or are living with a substance use disorder will support "any positive change as a person defines it for [themselves]."136 In the context of OUD-related health care, "any positive change" in the health, wellbeing, or quality of life of the person affected may be considered a desirable treatment outcome. Several factors may be considered when setting treatment goals:

- Numerous meaningful end points by which treatment can be considered successful or effective exist. These end points may include changes in drug use behavior or patterns of use; change in disease status (using the diagnostic criteria for OUD); and self-reported outcomes positive benefits of treatment as reported by the patient.^{137,138}
- The most important outcome for any effort to treat OUD is survival. Treatment with opioid agonist MOUD has been shown to be effective in reducing mortality even without full abstinence from illicit substances or when substance use is intermittent.¹³⁸ This mortality protection effect remains strong even if a patient experiences intermittent exposure to fentanyl while on MOUD.¹¹¹

2.7 Building a Recovery-oriented System of Care (ROSC)

The term "system of care" does not refer to a replicable model of health care delivery, but rather to a spectrum of community and interagency collaborations that provide effective culturally and linguistically appropriate support to help people function and thrive throughout their lives.

Recovery-oriented systems of care (ROSCs) are coordinated systems that provide alternatives to acute care models to address the full range of concerns related to substance use in communities. They provide necessary clinical care and other support structures, such as peer support, recovery support services, transportation assistance, social support, and childcare. Though they may be composed of different healthcare infrastructures and partnerships, all ROSCs are guided by the principle that there are many different pathways to recovery. 139,140

Box 2.3 Additional Resources for Clinicians offering MOUD

American Society of Addiction Medicine National Practice Guideline for the Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder¹⁴¹

This treatment guideline is for clinicians, health systems administrators, criminal justice system administrators, and policymakers. The guidelines are regularly updated and offer practical and evidence-based recommendations for patient assessment, OUD diagnosis, and treatment, with additional suggestions for specific medications, psychosocial treatment in conjunction with MOUD, and care for special or vulnerable populations.

American Society of Addiction Medicine Standards of Care for the Addiction Specialist Physician¹⁴²

This document offers practical guidance for healthcare professionals engaged in the diagnosis of substance use disorders, treatment planning, treatment initiation, care coordination, and continuing care management for persons with substance use disorders.

SAMHSA Treatment Improvement Protocol 63⁵⁴

This Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP) offers clinically relevant descriptions of the three FDA-approved medications for OUD (methadone, buprenorphine, and naltrexone), including mechanism of effect, route of administration, adverse effects, possible drug-drug interactions, and more. It also provides best practices for collaborating with counselors and other ancillary behavioral health care professionals and resources available to patients living with OUD and their families.

Prevention Research Synthesis Criteria for Evidence-Based Interventions for Linkage to, Retention in, and Re-engagement in HIV Care¹⁴³

Program evaluation is one of the three key components of evidence-based strategy, along with the expert opinions of clinical professionals and the values, desires, and perspectives of people affected or targeted by the program.¹⁴⁴ In this resource, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention offers suggestions for assessing linkage to care, including outcomes for program evaluation.

3. Opportunities for Linkage to Care



3.1 Primary Care

Screening for OUD, linkage to MOUD, and long-term treatment with MOUD can all be delivered in primary care settings, including in rural and resource-limited areas. Induction onto MOUD followed by a warm handoff to a long-term MOUD prescriber—or offering long-term MOUD with the same primary care physician or advanced practice provider (PCP)—can be integrated into routine primary care.

Why this is a promising opportunity?

As healthcare professionals who form long-term relationships with many of their patients and who are well-positioned to provide long-term support for chronic conditions, PCPs may be positioned to earn the trust of patients in ways that other specialists or short-term care providers are not. Trust between patients and their health care professionals is associated with greater uptake of preventative screening, 145 improved adherence to medications, 146 and better patient knowledge of prescribed medications. 147 PCPs are also better positioned to identify chronic or emergent OUD, as Prescription Drug Monitoring Programs (PDMPs) and other tools available to short-term care providers cannot identify all OUD cases. 148 This integration can reduce the stigma surrounding pharmacologic treatments for OUD and increase the likelihood of engagement and retention in care.

Linkage to care via primary care settings works best when:

- The primary care setting is welcoming, nonjudgmental, respectful, and empathetic.⁵
- Screening for OUD is universal: all patients receiving services from a primary care practice are screened for opioid use using a validated screening tool, not tested through urine or blood toxicology.⁵
- Patients reporting polysubstance use, previous substance use treatment, or co-occurring mental disorders are assessed to determine whether higher levels of treatment or more substantial support in treatment engagement are needed.^{149,150}

- Medical issues often associated with opioid use or other substance use (including, but not limited to infectious, renal, hepatic, and cardiovascular concerns) are recognized as such and followed with screening, assessment, and appropriate care.⁵
- High risk patients are identified, trained to respond to overdose, and provided with naloxone. 151,152
- MOUD, when indicated, is provided at the index visit the visit when OUD is identified—and patients begin induction onto MOUD immediately,¹⁵³ or, in the case of home induction, as soon as reasonably possible.^{154–156}
- Ongoing MOUD is integrated into primary care rather than offered through referral to a specialist or outside facility.^{157,158}

What the research says:

- People living with a diagnosed substance use disorder report greater willingness to enter treatment in a primary care setting than in a specialty care setting.¹⁵⁹
- Multiple studies have shown office-based opioid treatment with buprenorphine/naloxone to be effective, with most patients retained in care after 12 months.^{160,161}
- Multidisciplinary care models are care collaborations that allow PCPs, addiction specialists, and nonphysician health care professionals to coordinate the management of MOUD. They are effective strategies for delivering MOUD in primary care settings and do not require additional staff training to be implemented successfully.¹⁶²
- Patients receiving methadone from a SAMHSA-certified OTP with an on-site PCP are more likely to engage with their PCP and less likely to visit the emergency department or to undergo inpatient hospitalization, compared to those who receive only methadone with no integrated primary care services.¹⁵⁷
- Patients living with HIV who were offered buprenorphine through their regular PCP at an infectious disease clinic were almost twice as likely to initiate MOUD compared to patients who were referred to OUD care elsewhere.¹⁶³

Examples of these principles in practice:

- The state of Vermont has centralized the management and support of MOUD services through a state-level "hub and spoke" model. In this model, treatment admission and induction onto MOUD is carried out by well-equipped "hub" facilities, often located at centers of excellence or other large healthcare institutions in more populated areas. Patients are then connected to "spokes" (typically independent PCPs) in their own communities for ongoing management if and when it is deemed best for them to receive less structured forms of care. 164 Other states are now adapting the hub and spoke model based on Vermont's success. 165-167
- Project Extension for Community Healthcare Outcomes (Project ECHO) is a novel method for connecting community PCPs with expert training and academic learning communities through televideo technologies.
 Project ECHO was originally developed at the University of New Mexico Health Sciences Center in Albuquerque and has been used by health care systems across the United States and Canada to link primary care clinics in rural areas with centralized health systems for training and mutual support.^{168–170}
- The state of Oregon developed 16 coordinated care organizations (CCOs) to provide comprehensive care to residents enrolled in the Oregon Health Plan (Medicaid). Each CCO consists of a comprehensive network of local PCPs and other service providers that are all managed and financed under a global budget which coordinates care across services, including integrated care, and promotes cost savings.^{171,172}
- Women's Health Associates and the John D. Stoeckle Center for Primary Care Innovation at Massachusetts General Hospital developed a model for group visits for patients receiving MOUD. PCPs schedule appointments lasting 1 to 2 hours with as many as 12 patients at a time. This practice allows clinicians to see more patients, spend more time with each one, and to bill for more patient interactions than would otherwise be possible, thus resolving cost-of-care issues that frequently arise for community PCPs. Patients benefit from more face-to-face interaction with their PCP and from receiving social and behavioral support simultaneously with primary care.¹⁷³

3.2 Emergency Departments

Many people living with OUD depend on emergency departments (EDs) for urgent care needs. They may use this healthcare setting after some type of trauma, including a nonfatal overdose. ^{174,175} They may also present with an

injection-related bacterial or fungal infection or with an illness unrelated to their OUD—all cases in which a person's history of substance use can be missed.¹⁷⁶ Though an ED cannot be a source of long-term care for OUD, it can be an entry point into care, providing patients with immediate access to MOUD, including supervised induction onto medication if preferred, and a warm handoff to a longer-term care provider.

Why this is a promising opportunity:

Screening for OUD in the ED may identify patients who could benefit from MOUD who would not be screened elsewhere. In addition, patients who are provided MOUD on demand in the ED are often better retained in long-term care. Further, patients offered MOUD in the ED are twice as likely to accept the offer of treatment compared to patients offered links to care through other health care professionals. 113

Linkage to care via EDs works best when:

- The ED setting is welcoming, nonjudgmental, respectful, and empathetic.⁵
- Referral to community care is conducted through a warm handoff (a transfer in care that is completed in person in front of the patient and, when appropriate, the patient's family).
- Patients at higher risk are identified, trained to respond to overdose, and provided with naloxone prior to discharge.¹⁷⁸
- A trained peer recovery coach is available to consult with the patient if the patient desires.¹⁰⁴
- Successful strategies developed elsewhere in the United States are identified, adapted, and reproduced. Examples of effective "road maps" for linkage to care in EDs have been developed by experts in addiction and emergency medicine:
 - The National Institute on Drug Abuse has endorsed a buprenorphine treatment algorithm developed by Yale University School of Medicine for initiating MOUD in the ED.^{179–181} The algorithm recommends supervised induction onto medication for persons with a Clinical Opiate Withdrawal Scale (COWS) score of 8 or higher; home induction for those with lower withdrawal scores; higher buprenorphine dosing for persons with more severe OUD; and linkage to ongoing care via warm hand-offs, rather than referral.¹⁸² The Yale University School of Medicine has also produced a protocol for home induction of buprenorphine following linkage to MOUD at an ED.183 This team has also found that high dose (>12mg) buprenorphine induction in the ED is safe and well tolerated in patients with untreated OUD.¹⁸⁴

- The Bridge to Treatment program, a federally funded program in California (also discussed in Section 4.3), has developed a treatment algorithm that recommends supervised induction onto buprenorphine for persons with COWS scores of 8 and above or of 6 and above when paired with at least one objective sign of withdrawal. The algorithm also calls for allowing a patient to return to the ED in 72 hours for additional doses following the initial induction and short-term prescription.¹⁸⁵
- At-home induction of buprenorphine is feasible, and evidence of its benefit for patients is growing.¹⁸⁶

What the research says:

- Strong evidence supports the ED as an important and effective locus of intervention for various substance use concerns including OUD, illicit opioid use, and prescription opioid misuse.¹⁸⁷
- A Rhode Island study showed that integrating the services of a peer recovery coach in the ED significantly increased the uptake of overdose education and naloxone distribution and doubled the likelihood of a patient accepting referral to community-based MOUD treatment upon discharge.¹⁰⁴
- A study on the effects of ED-initiated buprenorphine/ naloxone treatment in the Yale New Haven Hospital compared this strategy to referral or brief intervention. Among those offered their first dose of buprenorphine/ naltrexone in the ED, 78 percent were still engaged in MOUD treatment at 30 days compared with 37 percent in the referral group and 45 percent in the brief intervention group.¹¹³ A later evaluation with a larger cohort showed that treatment retention at 2 months was 74 percent in the group initiated at the ED compared to 53 percent of those referred to treatment elsewhere.⁹⁷

Examples of these principles in practice:

- Yale New Haven Hospital was the first institution to systematically evaluate patient outcomes following MOUD treatment in its ED in 2015.¹¹³ Since offering this treatment option, investigators have found that patients who started MOUD in the ED were twice as likely to remain engaged in treatment 30 days after discharge.⁹⁷
- Emergency physicians at MetroHealth Medical Center in Cleveland, Ohio have begun offering OUD screening to patients presenting with opioid overdose. If treatment with MOUD is indicated and patients provide consent, they are provided with a peer counselor and a 3-day prescription for buprenorphine, which may be picked up at the hospital pharmacy after discharge.

- Patients are provided instructions about how to initiate buprenorphine treatment at home and are then transferred to a long-term care provider in the MetroHealth system for the continuation of care. 188
- Physicians in the psychiatric ED of the University of Maryland Medical Center in Baltimore, Maryland have been inducing patients with OUD onto buprenorphine treatment since 2003. Today, 11 EDs in Maryland offer buprenorphine induction, and similar services at 18 additional EDs across the state are planned.¹⁸⁹
- The American College of Emergency Physicians has created a point-of-care tool designed for bedside use by emergency physicians caring for patients with OUD. The tool provides clear guidance on naloxone use in the ED, indications and contraindications for MOUD, MOUD induction strategies, management of precipitated withdrawal, and strategies for linkage to ongoing care. The tool is available through a website or a mobile app.¹⁹⁰

3.3 Inpatient Hospitalization

More than 34 million hospital admissions were recorded in the United States in 2017.¹⁹¹ Of those, approximately 1 million involved persons living with OUD.¹⁹² Further, nearly half a million hospitalizations were due to injections or injuries related to OUD, such as infective endocarditis or septicemia, and this estimate does not include additional hospitalizations that occur due to overdose or entry into medically supervised withdrawal (detoxification).¹⁹³ Still more hospital admissions involve people who are living with OUD but are receiving treatment for other, possibly unrelated conditions at the time. Many of these hospitalizations may provide an opportunity to initiate treatment onsite.

Why this is a promising opportunity:

Clinicians and support staff providing care to inpatients have extended close contact with patients. People living with OUD who are admitted to inpatient care may be offered medically supervised detoxification (such as a 5-day taper with opioid agonist medications) to alleviate their withdrawal symptoms, 118 creating an opportunity to discuss long-term MOUD options. Physicians and other advanced practice providers working within hospital networks may also be uniquely positioned to recommend and initiate MOUD onsite within the hospital network as soon as a patient is admitted. 194 Providing inpatient MOUD induction supports the patient through the remaining hospitalization as they complete treatment for the admitting illness. Inpatient addiction consult services can also support patient needs and reduce rates of hospital re-admission. 195

Linkage to care via inpatient hospitalization works best when:

- The hospital setting is welcoming, nonjudgmental, respectful, and empathetic.⁵
- Complex financial and systems needs associated with large hospitals are integrated into planning and implementing improved linkage-to-care services.¹⁹⁶
- Patients with OUD are screened to assess risk behaviors and severity of substance use disorders so they can be triaged into the level of care appropriate for them.¹⁹⁷
- Any intervention provided to the patient is followed by continued MOUD after discharge, as short-term medically supervised detoxification is strongly associated with return to substance use.¹¹⁸
- Patients at higher risk of overdose are identified, trained to respond to overdose, and provided with naloxone prior to discharge.¹⁷⁸

What the research says:

- A study in Boston randomized 663 inpatients with OUD to receive one of two interventions: (1) induction onto buprenorphine/naloxone treatment and dose stabilization while in inpatient care, followed by a transition to office-based opioid therapy (i.e., MOUD continued by a community physician); or (2) medically supervised detoxification using a 5-day taper of buprenorphine/naloxone during the hospital stay, followed by a referral to care. Seventy-two percent of those who received induction and dose stabilization in the hospital were successfully linked with evidence-based care after discharge, compared to only 12 percent of those who received the taper.¹⁹⁴
- A nested cohort study was conducted within the same Boston-based controlled trial (above) with those who received induction and dose stabilization while under inpatient care. It revealed that past use of diverted buprenorphine/naloxone for self-management of withdrawal was associated with interest in receiving buprenorphine/naloxone-based treatment when offered.¹⁹⁸
- A 2004 study of more than 1,000 patients with a history of injection drug use admitted to an HIV/AIDS hospital ward showed that providing methadone to inpatients reduced the odds of those patients leaving against medical advice by about half.¹⁹⁹
- Another Boston study of 113 previously hospitalized patients with OUD and a history of injection drug use showed that neither referral upon discharge nor induction onto medication and stabilization during inpatient care followed by transfer to community MOUD care reduced

rates of injection. This indicates that patients with a history of injection drug use may need a higher level of care than provided by either of these interventions alone. ¹⁹⁷

Examples of these principles in practice:

- Boston Medical Center operates the Faster Paths to Treatment program, which initiates people living with OUD who are hospitalized for other conditions onto MOUD. This program facilitates induction for people in residential treatment programs in the community who request or would benefit from MOUD. Patients are immediately stabilized on buprenorphine or connected to an OTP for methadone and then actively transitioned to a PCP or other long-term care provider. Patient navigators assist in connecting with care and continuing treatment.²⁰⁰
- The University of Kentucky's UK HealthCare system has established the First Bridge Clinic, a low-barrier MOUD program that serves people receiving emergency or inpatient care at any one of the university's network hospitals. The clinic offers medication management, nurse care navigation, peer support services, and overdose education and naloxone distribution.²⁰¹
- California's Bridge to Treatment program (also discussed in Section 4.2) supports participating hospitals looking to start or expand MOUD.²⁰² As part of the program, the California Health Care Foundation offers publicly available webinars, toolkits, and guidelines to support hospitals seeking to improve OUD treatment across hospital departments.²⁰³
- A team from Oregon Health and Science University developed a protocol for conducting a population needs assessment to inform better care for substance use disorders in the hospital setting. The Improving Addiction Care Team (IMPACT) intervention includes integrated substance use counselors, rapid paths to treatment for substance use disorders (including MOUD), and enhanced residential treatment options.¹⁹⁶ The team has published the medication protocols, risk assessment tools, and other key pieces of implementation design.²⁰⁴
- The University of Texas at Austin Dell Medical Center has responded to high prevalence of hospitalized patients with OUD by developing and implementing the "B-Team" (Buprenorphine Team), consisting of an internal medicine Physician Assistant, a palliative care advanced practice nurse, and the attending psychiatry physician. The "B-Team" evaluates patients, initiates buprenorphine during hospitalization, counsels on OUD and harm reduction, and provides linkage to ongoing care in outpatient treatment programs. Early data show that nearly two-thirds of the patients initiated onto buprenorphine by the "B-Team" during hospitalization continue to receive outpatient MOUD after discharge. The development and implementation of the "B-Team" was inspired by California's Bridge to Treatment program (above).

3.4 Syringe Services Programs

Injection drug use and associated complications remain major public health concerns in the United States and elsewhere. Syringe services programs (SSPs) are essential public health programs for reducing infectious disease transmission, preventing overdose, and facilitating linkage to care for OUD.32,206 SSPs, sometimes called "needle exchange," "syringe access," or "syringe exchange" programs, provide access to clean and sterile equipment used for preparing and consuming drugs. They also offer tools for preventing and reversing opioid overdose (such as naloxone and fentanyl test strips), screening and referrals to care for infectious disease. safer injection education, and tools for preventing bacterial and viral infection commonly associated with injection. Linkage to MOUD from an SSP may take various forms, including warm handoffs to partnering MOUD prescribers with ongoing patient navigation or peer support, co-located (or closely located) SSP and MOUD services, and integrated SSP and MOUD care with onsite medication induction and continuation of care.

Why this is a promising opportunity:

Stigma against people who use drugs is a major barrier to treatment—even across diverse populations of those seeking care.^{207–209} SSPs provide low-threshold, nonjudgmental, person-centered care that meets people "where they're at."210 Staff and volunteers at SSPs are poised to build lasting, trusting relationships where participants feel supported and free from social judgment. People contemplating treatment may be more likely to ask SSP staff and volunteers for assistance because of these supportive relationships, and SSP resources can ensure that such requests for linkage to care are successful. The frequency and consistency of SSP interactions also facilitate linkage to care. Should an SSP participant decide to seek treatment or other healthcare services, they have frequent, low-barrier opportunities to ask for that assistance. These interactions may occur on a monthly or even a weekly basis—more frequently than a participant may see a PCP or other health care professional. Further, SSPs may be able to successfully engage people who are unhoused or who are at higher risk of overdose by offering novel overdose prevention strategies like drug checking and access to fentanyl test strips. 211,212 New opportunities for engagement create, in turn, new opportunities for linkage to care, as regular engagement with an SSP is a known predictor of participation in treatment.²¹³ Since 2016, federal funds may be used to support SSPs, with the exception of use of funds to purchase supplies used directly in the injecting process.²¹⁴ As of April 7, 2021, federal funds may be used to purchase fentanyl test strips.²¹⁵

Linkage to care through SSPs works best when:

- SSP setting is welcoming, nonjudgmental, respectful, and empathetic.⁵
- SSP staff and volunteers can build meaningful and trusting relationships with participants over time.²⁰⁶
- Effective case management is provided to facilitate linkage and entry into treatment.²¹⁶
- SSP participants have access to qualified health insurance plans and are supported in initiating and completing enrollment.²¹⁷
- Linkage to care is bundled with linkage to other services that alleviate common barriers to treatment success, including housing support and transportation assistance.^{216,218}
- The basic operation of SSPs (especially providing access to sterile injection equipment, most clients' primary incentive for visiting the SSP²¹⁹) is unencumbered by drug paraphernalia laws that criminalize possession of safer use supplies (like syringes or fentanyl test strips),^{220–222} insufficient funding,²²³ intrusive or intimidating police presence,^{224,225} one-for-one mandates or other limits on syringe distribution,²²¹ or other restrictions that limit the program's ability to meet participants' needs.

What the research says:

- A study of 436 people served by 17 different SSPs in Washington state showed that nearly 4 out of 5 SSP participants reported having interest in reducing or ceasing their substance use.¹²⁰
- A study in Baltimore revealed that those who participated in SSP services were between 1.4 and 3.2 times more likely to enter detoxification, compared to their peers who did not participate in the SSP.²¹⁷
- A similar study conducted recently among 440 people who inject drugs in Baltimore showed that those who participated SSP services were 1.7 times more likely to enter treatment for a substance use disorder compared to their peers who did not participate in the SSP.²⁰⁶
- Seattle researchers found that people who inject drugs and participated in SSP services were more likely to remain engaged in treatment for a substance use disorder compared to their peers. They were also 2.8 times as likely to report a 75 percent or higher reduction in injection and 3.5 times more likely to stop injecting altogether.²²⁶

- People referred to treatment from an SSP may enter into care with more severe OUD than their peers, indicating that they may benefit from additional supports while entering and remaining in care.²²⁷
- A study of people linked to buprenorphine through an SSP in Philadelphia between 2011 and 2014 showed that comorbidities requiring additional services in tandem with MOUD were common in this population, including high rates of HIV (33%), anxiety (78%), depression (71%), and homelessness (20%).²²⁸
- Some studies investigating the relationship between SSP participation and entry into treatment in Baltimore revealed that female gender is associated with higher rates of entry into care for substance use disorders through an SSP compared to male gender.^{120,229}

Examples of these principles in practice:

- The Eastern Band of Cherokee Indians has recently established hepatitis C prevention as a top ten public health priority, opening the Tsalagi Public Health SSP to serve the tribal community in 2018. In addition to offering safe injection supplies, naloxone, and testing for HIV and hepatitis C, the SSP is successfully linking participants to many different community services. As of January 2020, nearly 1 in 14 participants at the SSP have accessed treatment for substance use disorders.²³⁰
- Prevention Point Philadelphia, an SSP in Philadelphia's
 Kensington neighborhood, offers MOUD through their
 Stabilization Treatment and Engagement Program (STEP).
 People receiving MOUD through STEP work with a care
 manager and a Certified Recovery Specialist onsite and
 receive behavioral and mental health services offsite. The
 clinic is open 6 days per week, provides transportation
 services, and does not require insurance or identification
 at intake, making it a model low barrier program.²³¹
 Despite the high prevalence of medical and behavioral
 comorbidities, poverty, and homelessness in this patient
 population, STEP has achieved a retention rate of 56
 percent at 12 months with rates of MOUD adherence
 above 90 percent.²²⁸

- The Howard Center Safe Recovery program in Burlington, Vermont launched a low-barrier buprenorphine program in their SSP in October 2018. A triage system determines whether patients initiated through the SSP can be transitioned to the hub-and-spoke system or should receive ongoing MOUD care through the Howard Center's healthcare clinics.^{232,233}
- The Scott County Partnership, Inc. in Indiana developed a "one-stop shop" model that features a centralized SSP with onsite treatment initiation and linkage with communitybased healthcare professionals for ongoing care.²³⁴ Having a licensed MOUD prescriber onsite as part of an integrated mental health clinic is key to this and many similar programs' success.^{159,168}
- The Boston Health Care for the Homeless Program (BHCHP) and Access, Harm Reduction, and Overdose Prevention Education (AHOPE) conduct street outreach in tandem. A mobile clinic and SSP access point staffed with clinicians and outreach workers from both agencies serve residents around the Boston metro area. The collaborative harm reduction program offers syringe access services and immediate access to buprenorphine-based treatment. It also provides same-day scheduling of follow-up appointments for MOUD continuation at BHCHP's brick and mortar clinic and peer support for filling the initial prescription that same day.²³⁵
- In 2017, Public Health-Seattle and King County, Washington implemented a buprenorphine induction co-located with a local SSP. This program provides ongoing MOUD to a patient population characterized by unstable housing or homelessness and polysubstance use.²³⁶
- The San Francisco Department of Public Health's Street Medicine team provides low-barrier MOUD with buprenorphine in SSPs and homeless shelters throughout the city. The program has been helping unhoused and other structurally vulnerable persons with untreated substance use disorders. About 25 percent of those provided MOUD through this program were retained on buprenorphine for at least 12 months, and an additional 17 percent received medication during multiple observation periods with gaps in care in between.²³⁷

3.5 Prenatal and Postpartum Care

Prenatal healthcare professionals may offer wrap-around care for pregnant people through a collaborative care model that brings prenatal clinicians, mental health specialists, and case managers together to provide care for pregnancy and OUD in a single setting. ^{238,239} Postnatal healthcare professionals can assist patients in continuing MOUD after delivery by offering appropriate supports and making warm handoffs to long-term care if patients cannot stay with the same MOUD prescriber. Where feasible, family-centered care that includes children and family members in treatment and provides family-based clinical care can be an effective strategy for supporting the health and wellbeing of not only the pregnant parent, but the entire family. ²⁴⁰

Why this is a promising opportunity:

Pregnancy may increase certain risks of OUD, such as neonatal opioid withdrawal syndrome (NOWS) (sometimes called neonatal abstinence syndrome or NAS) for the infant²⁴¹ or heighten the risk of overdose in the postpartum parent—which can be significantly reduced with MOUD.²⁴² In addition, pregnancy may be a factor in a person's motivation to seek help or change.²⁴³

Prenatal and postnatal care that considers and supports the parent-infant dyad as a whole can be an efficient and highly effective venue for linking people living with substance use disorders to life-saving, evidence-based care.

SAMHSA offers detailed guidance for providing care to pregnant and postpartum people in their guide, *Clinical Guidance for Treating Pregnant and Parenting Women with Opioid Use Disorder and their Infants.*⁹

Linkage to care through prenatal and postnatal care works best when:

- The prenatal and postpartum care settings are welcoming, nonjudgmental, respectful, and empathetic.⁵
- Verbal screening for substance use disorders with a validated tool is universal for all pregnant people seeking prenatal care—beginning at the first prenatal visit.²⁴⁴
- Care is approached through nonpunitive means and when the parent doesn't feel at risk of legal repercussions (including the involvement of child protective services and the risk of forcible removal of their children²⁴⁵) for disclosing substance use during pregnancy.²⁴⁶
- Care is delivered through a collaborative care model with supportive care providers (e.g., counselors, social workers, patient navigators) working in tandem with physicians.^{238,239}

 Pregnant patients with OUD are not forced to withdraw from opioids,²⁴⁷ but are instead maintained on opioid agonist medications, preferably buprenorphine/naloxone if acceptable to the patient.²⁴⁶ Methadone is a safe option if a patient preference.²⁴⁸

What the research says:

- Not enough scientific evidence exists to assess the safety of naltrexone use during pregnancy or the effects of intrauterine exposure on the fetus to support the use of naltrexone during pregnancy.⁹
- Withdrawal from opioids—including medically supervised tapering—is not recommended for pregnant people as it is associated with a high rate of return to substance use.²⁴⁷ One study showed that nearly 85 percent of pregnant people with OUD in the United States are unsuccessful in their attempts to withdraw from opioids and to maintain abstinence from substance use, unsupported by medication, for the duration of their pregnancies.⁴⁴
- State and local laws categorizing substance use as "prenatal child abuse" are associated with lower rates of treatment with MOUD for pregnant people with OUD.²⁴⁶
- Pregnancies maintained on buprenorphine/naloxone may display a more responsive fetal heart rate⁴⁵ and higher trough movement²⁴⁹ compared to those maintained on methadone.
- Patients managing postpartum pain may require higher doses of MOUD than normal (up to 47 percent higher with buprenorphine/naloxone²⁵⁰ and 70 percent higher with methadone after cesarean delivery).²⁵¹ Research has shown no differences in intrapartum pain or analgesia requirements.^{250,251}
- NOWS is a normal and manageable condition among neonates delivered by patients receiving MOUD.²⁵² Importantly, a pregnant person's dosage of an opioid agonist MOUD is not a predictor of the severity or length of NOWS symptoms in their newborn.^{253,254}
- NOWS symptoms can be lessened through a "rooming-in" model of post-partum care that places parents and neonates in the same room during hospitalization.
 Rooming-in maximizes skin-to-skin contact and minimizes outside stimulation, both of which improve the management of NOWS and reduce admissions to the neonatal intensive care unit.^{255,256}
- There is little research on treatment outcomes among trans men who are living with OUD during pregnancy; qualitative research among trans men who are seeking pregnancy or who have given birth post-transition suggests that feelings of social isolation and poor knowledge and awareness of gender affirming health needs among the healthcare team are common concerns.^{257–259}

Examples of these principles in practice:

- In 2017, the National Perinatal Association published a position statement on managing perinatal substance use. It advocates using harm reduction models that welcome "Any Positive Change" when providing care for pregnant and parenting people who use drugs; the decriminalization of perinatal substance exposure; and effective linkage to MOUD for people who are living with OUD and are ready to seek treatment.²⁶⁰
- Perinatal quality collaboratives (PQCs) are networks of multidisciplinary teams working to promote best practices in perinatal care, including screening and treating pregnant or parenting people with OUD and newborns showing symptoms of NOWS. The Illinois PQC has both obstetric and neonatal initiatives for pregnant or parenting people and newborns affected by opioids. The toolkit, updated in January 2019, includes quality improvement and data resources, and screening tools.²⁶¹ The toolkit has information for family education, predelivery planning, treatment, and safe care.²⁶²
- Ohio state's Maternal Opiate Medical Support (MOMS) initiative provides treatment to patients who use opioids during and after their pregnancy through a medical care home model. This initiative includes access to residential treatment for parents and their children up to 12 years of age.²⁴⁰
- In 2020, the American Academy of Pediatrics published a clinical statement on NOWS. The statement offers guidance on the management of infants with opioid exposure, including clinical presentation, assessment, treatment, and discharge.²⁶³

3.6 Outpatient Mental Health and Behavioral Health Services

Substance use disorders are closely linked to other mental disorders. According to SAMHSA's 2020 National Survey on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH), approximately 37.9 million adults met the diagnostic criteria for a past-year substance use disorder, including alcohol and tobacco use disorders; of those, about half, or approximately 17 million, simultaneously experienced some form of mental illness.²⁶⁴ Further, NSDUH data from 2015 to 2017 reveals that, among adults with pastyear OUD, 64.3 percent experienced some form of mental disorder in the past year and 26.9 percent experienced a serious mental disorder.²⁶⁵ Research has shown that the difficulty of obtaining treatment for substance use disorders and mental disorders from two fragmented treatment systems is a significant barrier to both forms of care. 266-268 These challenges can be reduced by implementing treatment programs tailored to the unique needs of persons with cooccurring substance use and mental disorders. In addition, those who already have a history of engaging with mental health or behavioral health professionals are more likely to engage in treatment for OUD.²⁶⁹ Integrating screening and linkage to care protocols for both mental and behavioral health services can, therefore, significantly increase access to MOUD for patients experiencing co-occurring disorders.

Why this is a promising opportunity:

The social stigma surrounding mental illness is high, and the stigma against substance use and substance use disorders is even higher.²⁷⁰ Because co-occurring substance use disorders and other mental illness affect many patients seeking mental health care, mental health professionals are in a unique position to link patients with OUD to MOUD while treating mental health co-morbidities that may be associated with substance use.²⁶⁵ The proportion of people who are seeking treatment for OUD and present with unresolved psychiatric concerns at intake is on the rise, increasing from 17 percent to 34 percent between 2000 and 2012.²⁷¹

Linkage to care in outpatient mental health and behavioral health services works best when:

- The mental health and behavioral health setting is welcoming, nonjudgmental, respectful, and empathetic.⁵
- Treatment services for OUD and other mental disorders are integrated and co-located.²⁷²
- Services for co-occurring mental disorders are established prior to the initiation of treatment for OUD.²⁷³

What the research says:

- The Health Care for Reentry Veterans program at the Veterans' Health Administration found that 77 percent of people in their care with a diagnosed mental disorder were successfully connected to mental health care, whereas 37 percent of people diagnosed with a substance use disorder were successfully linked with substance use-related care, suggesting that linkage to the former is often more successful than linkage to the latter.²⁷⁴ Researchers attributed this finding to the different stigmas attached to mental and substance use disorders.
- A large Massachusetts study of nearly 8,000 women who inject drugs showed that participants who engaged in mental health services were significantly more likely to engage in evidence-based treatment for OUD compared to their counterparts who had no history of engaging in mental health care.²⁷⁵
- Members of minority racial and ethnic groups are less likely to access both substance use and mental health disorder treatment compared to their white counterparts.²⁷⁶

Examples of these principles in practice:

- The Boston Health Care for the Homeless Program offers integrated, co-located behavioral health services alongside primary care and services for substance use disorders in its comprehensive healthcare facility in Boston's South End. Professionals working across healthcare specialties collaborate and participate in case conferences for all patients, giving special attention to those who seek treatment for OUD and screen positive for depression.²⁷⁷
- The 2014 Protecting Access to Medicare Act provided the framework for establishing Certified Community Behavioral Health Clinics (CCBHCs), which provide comprehensive mental and substance use disorder services to vulnerable people with complex clinical and social needs. This qualifies the clinics for enhanced Medicaid reimbursements. In 2016, SAMHSA awarded demonstration grants to eight states (Minnesota, Missouri, New Jersey, New York, Nevada, Oklahoma, Oregon, and Pennsylvania) to establish clinics offering 24-hour mobile crisis teams, screening and diagnosis, outpatient mental health and substance use services, primary care, case management, peer and family support services, and more. These services will be paid for whether each state's Medicaid program already covers them.²⁷⁸ In Oregon, for example, 12 CCBHCs were certified by 2019, adding more than 250 full time staff to their collective workforce, providing service to more than 50,000 people, and increasing the availability of MOUD by making at least one of these medications available at most of the clinics.²⁷⁹

3.7 Health Care Settings During Incarceration and Community Supervision

There is great need for effective, evidence-based treatments for substance use disorders for people involved in the criminal justice system. Available data on people under community supervision indicates that as many as 40 percent of male probationers aged 18–49 and 38 percent of male parolees aged 18–49 are also living with a substance use disorder. Effective linkage to care for these individuals includes universal screening for OUD and overdose risk; diversion from incarceration to community-based care; initiation or continuation of MOUD during incarceration; support for MOUD initiation during incarceration or community supervision; MOUD continuation post-release and during community supervision; and overdose education and naloxone distribution. 281

Why this is a promising opportunity?

Linking persons with OUD to evidence-based treatment while incarcerated or while under community supervision brings correctional health care in line with current medical standards for treating OUD. It reduces illicit drug use, overdose risk, and rates of drug-related crime and increases engagement with other essential forms of health care. 282-285 Linkage to MOUD through the criminal justice system is also a proven, highly effective strategy for preventing fatal overdose, 286 a significant risk faced by formerly incarcerated persons immediately following release. 287

Racialized minorities in the United States already experience markedly lower access to MOUD, in general, compared to their white counterparts.²²These disparities may be exacerbated by the reality that Black persons and people from other minority groups living with OUD are statistically more likely to be incarcerated, where MOUD is often inaccessible. Black persons represent 13 percent of the national population, yet constitute nearly 40 percent of those incarcerated.^{13,288} In addition, nearly half of all persons in federal prisons and about 15 percent of persons in state prisons have been sentenced for drugrelated offenses.^{13,288}Therefore, developing new strategies for linking all persons involved in the criminal justice system to timely, high-quality, evidence-based care with MOUD is key to curbing the opioid overdose epidemic.

SAMHSA provides detailed guidance about providing MOUD in criminal justice settings in their guide, *Use of Medication-Assisted Treatment for Opioid Use Disorder in Criminal Justice Settings*.²⁸⁹

Linkage to care in health care settings during incarceration and community supervision works best when:

- The health care setting during incarceration, pre-release procedures, and community supervision are welcoming, nonjudgmental, respectful, and empathetic.⁵
- Treatment with MOUD is uninterrupted for those receiving care prior to incarceration.²⁹⁰
- MOUD can be initiated in criminal justice settings.²⁹¹
- Persons have access to all FDA-approved MOUD. This choice is essential, as some fare better (or worse) on one of these drugs than on the others.⁹⁵
- Dosages of opioid agonist MOUD are not restricted.
 For example, methadone dosages in excess of 60 mg may be needed to retain patients in treatment and to generate reduction in illicit opioid use in community

- care settings.²⁹² Evidence does not support using lower dosages in incarcerated settings.
- An effective system for referral and linkage to care is in place so that persons on MOUD can receive a warm handoff to other clinics or prescribers to continue their care, without interruption, upon release.²⁹³
- MOUD is offered with evidence-based psychosocial counseling; however, according to SAMHSA's best practices for providing MOUD in criminal justice settings, no justification exists for denying access to MOUD because psychosocial services are unavailable or because someone is unwilling to engage in those services.²⁸⁹
- Community practitioners who provide MOUD meet with people who are incarcerated prior to their release to assess health care and social support needs to ensure a smooth transition to community care, which should begin immediately upon release.²⁸⁹

What the research says:

- Rhode Island observed a 12 percent decrease in overdose fatalities state-wide within 1 year of initiating a new MOUD program in all state adult correctional facilities compared to the previous year. Two-thirds of the decrease are attributed to deaths prevented by universal MOUD access in correctional facilities.²⁸⁶
- Multiple studies have shown that MOUD in correctional facilities is associated with reduced heroin use, syringe sharing, and criminal activity, and a higher probability of receiving treatment upon release.²⁸²⁻²⁸⁵
- Forced withdrawal from methadone during incarceration reduces the likelihood that people already receiving treatment with MOUD prior to incarceration will reengage in treatment after release.²⁹⁴
- A study conducted at Rikers Island Correctional Facility revealed that persons with OUD who were given buprenorphine while incarcerated for 10–90 days were more likely than those given methadone to continue treatment with MOUD after release.²⁹⁵
- Baltimore researchers found that persons who received methadone while incarcerated stayed in treatment for an average of 166 days in the year following their release. Those who received only counseling but no MOUD engaged in treatment for an average of 23 days following release and were more likely to test positive for opioids a year later.²⁹⁶
- On average, people who would be eligible to initiate MOUD while in jail present with more severe substance use profiles than their counterparts in the general population.²⁹⁷

 A survey of existing literature showed a strong association between treatment with methadone and reductions in recidivism; a moderate association between treatment with buprenorphine and reductions in recidivism; and no association between long-acting naltrexone and reductions in recidivism. All comparisons were made against non-medication groups.²⁹⁸

Examples of these principles in practice:

- Rikers Island Correctional Facility, New York City's jail, has been providing opioid agonist MOUD to inmates with OUD since 1987.
- The Philadelphia Department of Prisons (PDP) has been providing MOUD to jail inmates for more than 12 years. Ninety five percent of persons receiving methadone through PDP returned to treatment in community-based clinics after release.²⁸⁹
- In 2016, Rhode Island became the first state to implement MOUD with all three FDA-approved medications (methadone, buprenorphine, and naltrexone) for all jailed or incarcerated people presenting with OUD. Some people continued the medications they were receiving prior to incarceration; others initiated MOUD for the first time in correctional facilities.
- Several community Centers of Excellence in MOUD were established to promote transitions and referrals of incarcerated people upon release.²⁸⁶
- In 2017, the Los Angeles County Department of Health Services' Correctional Health Services (CHS) received funding from the California Health Care Foundation to establish an OTP in the county jail system and to provide MOUD to persons remanded to county jails. By April 2018, 319 people in Los Angeles County were receiving treatment from CHS.²⁹⁹ CHS representatives made site visits to Rikers Island Correctional Facility in New York City and Rhode Island correctional facilities for technical assistance planning this program.
- The New Jersey Department of Corrections (NJDOC) and Department of Human Services recently renovated the state's Mid-State Correctional Facility to operate as a treatment center for incarcerated people living with various substance use disorders. NJDOC has been providing about 100 people with MOUD each month since opening this program.²⁸⁹
- In November 2018, the National Commission on Correctional Health Care and the National Sheriffs' Association jointly released a set of best practices and guidelines for implementing jail-based MOUD.

4. Best Practices Across Populations



4.1 Recently Incarcerated Persons

Incarceration and subsequent release increase a person's risk of opioid overdose. This occurs as a result of abstinence from opioids commonly experienced while incarcerated followed by a lack of social and financial support upon reentry into the community. Recent evidence shows that unintentional overdose is the leading cause of death among formerly incarcerated people, with the highest risk occurring soon after release. Rogonia An estimated 2.3 million persons are currently incarcerated in the United States, of whom approximately 1.3 million are held in state prisons and approximately 630,000 are held in county jails. Within that very large population, available estimates indicate that 58 percent of those incarcerated in state prisons and the 63 percent sentenced in local jails meet the criteria for a substance use disorder.* 114

Most people who are incarcerated in the United States cannot access MOUD. Though treatment with MOUD during incarceration greatly improves linkage to care upon release, only 30 of the country's 5,100 jails and prisons offered MOUDs to people who were incarcerated or in custody in 2017. Though drug courts are a growing strategy for diverting people accused of nonviolent offenses who are living with substance use disorders away from incarceration, drug courts prolong people's involvement in the criminal justice system, and as many as half of all drug courts do not allow participants access to MOUD under any circumstances. Many drug court systems that do allow access to MOUD limit that access to pregnant people or only allow its use for a short-term taper (detoxification), Many which increases overdose risk. 115–117

The synergy between incarceration and overdose, OUD, and access to MOUD is exacerbated by racial and ethnic disparities in the criminal justice system. Non-Hispanic Black people are incarcerated at a rate per capita more than twice that of Hispanic people and more than six times that of non-Hispanic white people. In addition to the harms that embodied racism may cause to physical and emotional well-being, members of racial and ethnic minority groups may have poor experiences with healthcare professionals or institutions. Those experiences may include lower quality community-based care for OUD, In inadequate pain management, and other forms of discrimination in healthcare settings that hinder MOUD access during, after, and beyond the context of incarceration.

4.2 Tribal Communities and Indigenous Persons

American Indian and Alaska Native (AI/AN) persons experience a disproportionately high rate of opioid overdose mortality compared to the general population. Between 1999 and 2016, the rate of fatal opioid overdose among AI/AN persons rose from 2.9 to 13.9 per 100,000 nationwide, with rates in some regions reaching 47.6 per 100,000.³¹⁴ By 2020, the nationwide rate of all fatal drug overdose among AI/AN persons rose to 29.8 per 100,000—higher than any other demographic group.³¹⁵ Still, these statistics reflect only a portion of the burden carried by AI/AN communities. Conducting epidemiological surveys among AI/AN populations may be challenging due to the statistical limitations of smaller sample sizes and limitations of the cultural validity of available screening tools, ^{316,317} resulting in underestimations of opioid overdose mortality in this population by as much as 40 to 50 percent. ^{318,319}

^{*} The study referenced here measured the rates of "substance dependence or substance abuse" in this population. These terms were used in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental disorders, 4th Edition (DSM-IV), published in 2000.³⁰⁵ This entry was updated in the 5th edition (DSM-5), renamed "substance use disorder" and given slightly different clinical criteria.⁹¹ As the correspondence between these two diagnoses is very high,³⁰⁶ we here use the current and less stigmatizing term "substance use disorder" in lieu of "substance abuse."

Al/AN communities face structural barriers to evidence-based treatment for OUD such as limited control over the scope of direct healthcare services provided by the Indian Health Service on tribal lands;³¹⁴ high clinician turnover in tribal communities;³²⁰ lack of familiarity with MOUD among substance use treatment programs available to tribal communities;³²¹ and stigma or prejudice in medical facilities outside of tribal lands.³²⁰

Al/AN communities have also experienced historical traumas, which are associated with substance use. 322,323 Meaningful responses to intergenerational trauma are being pioneered by Al/AN scholars such as Maria Yellow Horse Brave Heart, who developed the Historical Trauma Response approach to community-based healing. 323,324 Brave Heart's scholarly work demonstrates direct links between disproportionate rates of substance use disorders, anxiety disorders, and suicidal ideation and the numerous historical traumas experienced by these communities. 323

Fortunately, acknowledging the impact of these historical traumas on entire nations creates new opportunities for research and intervention models that build on the existing strengths of tribal communities and promote community empowerment.³²⁴ Adopting a resiliency framework that prioritizes (re)claiming indigenous culture and identity is effective in mitigating the negative impacts of psychological stressors³²⁵ and increasing overall social wellness³²⁶—including access and uptake of mental and behavioral health services³²⁷—in tribal communities.

Tapping into the innate strengths of tribal communities, including the unique administrative capacities rooted in Tribal Sovereignty, is necessary to implement effective responses to OUD and increase uptake of MOUD both in communities that maintain tribal sovereignty and among Al/AN people living outside of tribal lands. Ideally, MOUD can be integrated into local practices and rooted in indigenous culture and spirituality instead of simply "plugging in" elements of indigenous spirituality into pre-existing secular modalities of treatment with MOUD. In addition, it is helpful to adapt program models to acknowledge and validate culturally meaningful treatment outcomes that may differ from biomedical definitions of MOUD success.³²⁰ The U.S. Indian Health Service is working to support tribal responses to opioid overdose and OUD through technical assistance, resource sharing, and collaboration with tribal communities.³²⁸

One of many examples of these approaches in action is the Muckleshoot Behavioral Health Program (serving members of the Muckleshoot Tribe of the Coast Salish peoples in the

Pacific Northwest region of the United States). The program has successfully integrated current science and research on substance use disorders into a traditional socio-cultural healing framework. The clinic refers clients to work training programs and the tribal college; offers music lessons; holds beading workshops; hosts a drum circle at local dance events; and facilitates volunteer opportunities for clients with tribal elders. In addition to these important offerings, half of the clinic's patients receive buprenorphine/naloxone and another third receive naltrexone.³¹⁴

4.3 People Living with Past Trauma

Consensus is growing that experiences with psychological trauma are "the expectation, not the exception" for persons with OUD. Further, chronic post-traumatic stress disorder and chronic pain are positively associated, which indicates that psychological trauma is prevalent in populations at risk of OUD and among those currently living with OUD.

Psychological traumas can produce complex syndromes that affect patients socially, psychologically, and biologically.³³¹ Trauma symptoms may include feelings of disempowerment and socio-emotional disconnection from others.³³² These experiences may diminish a patient's capacity to develop meaningful therapeutic relationships with healthcare professionals. Persons who have experienced trauma risk becoming re-traumatized if clinicians are not trained or equipped to serve them appropriately and foster a sense of safety at all stages of their interaction.³³³ This is especially true for women and gender-minority patients.³³⁴

In 2013, Vivian Brown and colleagues developed a tool to help a variety of service providers assess the quality of their trauma-informed services and overall preparation for meeting trauma-specific needs. The tool consists of a simple checklist that covers domains such as client sense of safety, client choice and agency, service policies, trauma screening and assessment, service planning, staff training, and administrative support. It helps program leaders identify potential triggers in their programming or services (e.g., could a loud and crowded waiting room cause clients with severe trauma histories to have upsetting and/or disproportionate reactions to the environment), and plan and implement both large and small quality improvement strategies.³²⁹

SAMHSA offers detailed guidance on trauma-informed care in their guide, *Trauma-Informed Care in Behavioral Health Services*.³³⁵

4.4 Adolescents

Though opioid use and OUD are less common among adolescents than in the adult population, ³³⁶ adolescents who need MOUD may face unique challenges in accessing this form of care. Research on the relationships between opioid exposure in adolescence and later cognitive and behavioral outcomes is limited. Evidence exists, however, that misuse of prescription medications during adolescence is associated with greater risk of a substance use disorder in adulthood.³³⁷ Further, though more research is needed to fully understand the impact of opioid use on the developing brain, limited evidence suggests that other (non-opioid) forms of substance use may negatively impact certain cognitive functions over time.³³⁸

The American Academy of Pediatrics recommends that adolescent patients be given regular screening at each annual physical exam,³³⁹ though the U.S. Prevention Services Task Force has recently concluded that evidence is insufficient to support this recommendation.³⁴⁰ Low rates of screening among adolescents are often the result of clinicians' own perception of low risk in their patient population,³⁴¹ and screenings, when they do occur, often rely on a healthcare professional's clinical judgement rather than a validated screening tool.³⁴² Further, substance use disorders among adolescents are often comorbid with other mental health concerns such as bipolar disorder,³⁴³ which may complicate efforts to identify and treat OUD among pediatric patients.

Adolescents also experience many barriers to MOUD that are not typical among their adult counterparts.344 For example, federal age restrictions limit the prescription of buprenorphine for OUD to patients 16 years or older.³⁴⁵ While methadone can be dispensed from OTPs to youth under the age of 18, the U.S. Code of Federal Regulations requires documentation that the patient has failed two previous attempts at abstinencebased treatment or withdrawal management and has written consent from a parent or guardian.346 Parents of adolescent OUD patients may also hold the false perception that medications should only be used in OUD treatment as a last resort.82 Finally, access to MOUD is significantly lower for female adolescents compared to their male counterparts and for Hispanic and non-Hispanic Black adolescents compared to their white counterparts.³⁴⁷ As a result, 2.4 percent of adolescents in treatment for heroin use disorder receive MOUD—less than one-tenth of the medication coverage currently achieved among adults.348

The National Institute on Drug Abuse offers guidance on the treatment of substance use disorders among adolescents in their guide, *Principles of Adolescent Substance Use Disorder Treatment: A Research-Based Guide*. 349

The American Academy of Pediatrics offers guidance on treatment with MOUD in adolescents in their guide, *Medication-Assisted Treatments of Adolescents with Opioid Use Disorders*. 350

4.5 Transgender and Gender-Minority Populations

Transgender and gender-minority people experience higher rates of psychological distress and post-traumatic stress disorder compared to people who identify with the gender to which they were assigned at birth (cis-gender), which puts them at higher risk of illicit substance use.³⁵¹ Transgender and gender-minority people who use drugs are at heightened risk of opioid-related harms, often presenting with more severe substance use disorders and frequently presenting with comorbid mental disorders.³⁵² Illicit substance use is much more prevalent in this population compared with their cis-gender counterparts.³⁵³

Many transgender and gender-minority people experience economic and interpersonal discrimination, the root of many barriers to care. The healthcare system regularly fails to provide appropriate care as a result of cis-gendered assumptions about patient populations embedded in its infrastructure, such as gender-specific access or gendered segregation within treatment facilities, residential programs, and outpatient support groups. 354 Structural and interpersonal discrimination also reduces access to health insurance, leaving more transgender and gender-minority people uninsured than is typical across the entire adult population. 355,356

Even small steps taken can have a positive impact on the relationship between healthcare professionals and patients who are transgender and gender-minority people:

- Use the name and pronouns used by the patient, whether or not they align with those assigned at birth.
- If you are unsure about what name or pronouns to use, don't guess. Politely ask. If you have trouble remembering correct pronouns, use "they/them."
- Document the patient's name and pronouns in their chart as they are given by the patient, whether or not they align with those assigned at birth.
- Use an anatomy inventory when taking medical history, rather than making assumptions about a patient's anatomy based on gender presentation or physical appearance.
- Avoid asking questions about identity, anatomy, sexual or romantic activity, or anything else that are driven by curiosity.³⁵⁷

The World Professional Association for Transgender Health (WPATH) offers detailed guidance for providing care to transgender and other gender-minority persons in their guide, Standards of Care for the Health of Transgender, Transsexual, and Gender-Nonconforming People.³⁵⁸

4.6 Sex Workers

People who engage in commercial sex work or transactional sexual relationships often experience stigma from the general population and from healthcare professionals.³⁵⁹ This can directly and negatively affect sex workers living with OUD, as anti-sex work stigma has been shown to mediate the relationship between sex work and substance use, increasing the association between the two.³⁵⁹ Further, sex work and substance use disorder are sometimes (though not always) experienced synergistically, with sex work serving as a pathway into substance use and substance use serving as a pathway into sex work.^{360–364}

Myths, stereotypes, and misunderstandings about the realities of sex work can be significant barriers to care. Lifetime prevalence of both sexual assault and sexual trauma is higher among those with a history of sex work.³⁶⁵ Nevertheless, recognizing that not all people engaged in sex work share these experiences is important.

People engaged in commercial sex work or transactional sexual relationships deserve effective, compassionate care. Healthcare professionals can strive to maintain a client-centered system of care when treating patients involved in sex work, even if they do not share the same values. They may also seek training or support for addressing personal biases against sex work and adopt harm reduction approaches in their practice by meeting patients "where they're at" and by acknowledging "Any Positive Change" in a patient's health or wellbeing as a success.³⁶⁶

5. Barriers and Facilitators of Treatment Access



5.1 Known Barriers to Treatment Access

Prescriber- and systems-level barriers to providing MOUD

MOUD must be available before anyone can be linked to it. The barriers healthcare professionals face in offering MOUD are well documented, and disproportionately affect rural areas across the United States. The total number of waivered buprenorphine prescribers more than doubled in the past few years, growing from approximately 38,000 in 2017 to nearly 110,000 in 2021. Despite this rapid growth, the availability of buprenorphine in rural areas has varied over the past decade. In 2012, 33% of U.S. rural counties did not have a single buprenorphine prescriber practicing within county limits; that number grew to 44% of rural counties in 2017 and then fell again to 37% of rural counties in 2020. Despite these changes, residents of more than one third of the United States' rural areas and more than half of small, remote rural areas have no local access to buprenorphine for OUD.

However, healthcare professionals across the United States face common challenges regardless of their practice location.³⁷¹ At the prescriber level, misunderstanding about the efficacy of MOUD³⁷² as well as concerns about visit time, medication diversion, and qualifications to treat complex substance use disorders are consistently reported as barriers that affect willingness to offer MOUD within one's healthcare practice. 367,371,373 At the local level, many healthcare professionals perceive low levels of institutional support, lack of access to both mental health and psychosocial services, and lack of specialized care professionals or backup supports for particularly complex cases as barriers to offering MOUD. 367,371,373 Difficulty coordinating care within and among hospital systems is also a challenge.³⁷⁴ Finally, at the national level, Medicaid reimbursement procedures (including the level of reimbursement) and concerns about Drug Enforcement Agency intrusion into medical practices are what healthcare professionals report as factors that hamper their ability and willingness to offer MOUD.367,373,374

Despite the widespread impact of these prescriber- and systemlevel barriers to providing MOUD, a growing body of literature offers novel approaches and best practices for overcoming them and for providing high-quality treatment to those living with OUD. For instance, the Massachusetts Collaborative Care Model (based on a linkage to care program first developed at Boston Medical Center) has successfully increased MOUD capacity through collaborative care partnerships with community health clinics.³⁷⁵ A Colorado study found that community outreach and education to reduce stigma among healthcare professionals facilitated the expansion of MOUD across communities.³⁷⁴ Massachusetts General Hospital developed a protocol for group visits for MOUD patients, which resolves the need to find additional psychosocial support and allows for higher reimbursement rates.^{366,173} In addition, simple interventions for prescriber support, such as academic detailing with a specialist, improved opioid prescription practices for analgesia,³⁷⁶ and similar strategies may support and facilitate the provision of MOUD as well.

Stigma

Fear of stigma and judgement from healthcare professionals discourages help seeking for OUD and other substance userelated concerns.³⁷⁸ Women and people with persistent mental illness are more likely to experience such stigmas, which may further discourage treatment seeking or contribute to early dropout from care.³⁷⁹ Beyond the healthcare system, stigma can also lead to broader systematic barriers. It may, for example, foster public support for punitive rather than public health responses to opioid use83 and discourage prescribers from offering treatment for OUD in their medical practice. 380,381 People who use drugs or who are living with OUD may also face challenges posed by internalized stigma and fear of stigma from friends, family, and the broader community. Some scholars have argued that stigma is so central to public perceptions of substance use disorder that the internalization of stigma (i.e., the feeling that you are worthless or undeserving because you use drugs) is a key component of the bio-social process through which substance use disorders develop.³⁸² Internalized stigma complicates the presentation and treatment of OUD. It has been shown to worsen social functioning,³⁸³ substance use problems,³⁸⁴ and the depressive symptoms stemming from internalized HIV-related stigma.

Demographic and economic barriers

Certain populations are at higher-than-average risk of poor engagement in treatment with MOUD or early drop out. Those who may be at increased risk includes persons with OUD who are:

- · younger;
- male;
- members of a minority racial or ethnic group;
- · living with more than one substance use disorder;
- living with a co-occurring mental disorder;
- enrolled in a fee-for-service Medicaid plan;
- · survivors of past overdose; or
- admitted to a hospital as an inpatient soon after initiating care.

Further, studies have shown that women living with OUD are, on average, less likely than their male peers to have the financial resources to pay for MOUD.³⁸⁷ These financial barriers can, in turn, be mitigated or exacerbated by the form of care to which an individual has access. For example, patients receiving methadone to treat OUD are significantly less likely than patients receiving buprenorphine to find and begin new employment while in treatment, due largely to the logistical constraints (e.g., daily observed dosing onsite) imposed by OTP regulations.

Insufficient treatment capacity

The need for MOUD outpaces current treatment capacity in the United States. Though nearly 500,000 PCPs—and many more NPs and PAs—are currently practicing in the United States, ³⁸⁹ fewer than 110,000 clinicians are registered as prescribers of buprenorphine for OUD as of October, 2021. ³⁶⁹ Studies suggest that about one in eight registered buprenorphine prescribers are prescribing the medication often enough to be near their patient limit, and as many as one quarter of prescribers, despite being specially waivered to do so, are not prescribing buprenorphine at all. ^{390,391}

Incarceration

Incarceration is a primary risk factor for opioid overdose. 70,392 Periods of incarceration can also disrupt or discourage treatment seeking. A source of this discouragement is often forced withdrawal when incarceration begins. People who have been formerly incarcerated become less interested in initiating MOUD after release out of fear that they will again have to experience painful withdrawal. 993,394 Due to this deterrent effect, being formerly incarcerated is independently associated with not receiving treatment on the outside. 395

Health insurance coverage and policies

States that expanded Medicaid observed, on average, a 70 percent increase in Medicaid-covered buprenorphine prescriptions, a 50 percent increase in buprenorphine spending, and a marked increase in overall treatment capacity. Failing to qualify for Medicaid in non-expansion states is thus a significant barrier to MOUD. In addition, many forms of health insurance limit access to MOUD through prior authorization requirements. These policies often leave patients waiting for several days between when they first see a clinician and when they can begin treatment.

Public concerns about opioid medication diversion

Local leaders or public health authorities may worry that increasing access to buprenorphine, an opioid agonist medication, could pose a public health risk.³⁹⁹ Evidence supports that increased opioid prescribing is associated with higher levels of prescription opioid misuse.⁴⁰⁰ However, studies have shown that diversion or illicit use of buprenorphine is primarily driven by high demand for OUD treatment—often to self-treat opioid withdrawal symptoms—in an environment where access to MOUD is low.^{401–403} Moreover, buprenorphine diversion in a community where access to MOUD has recently increased could be an indicator that access to treatment does not yet meet the demand for care among local residents with OUD.

5.2 Known Facilitators of Treatment Access

Integrated OUD/HIV treatment

When patients with OUD are also living with HIV, the efficacy of MOUD can be increased through integration with HIV treatment in a single location. Integrated MOUD and HIV care has also been shown to increase the protective effect of MOUD against death from overdose and other causes. 404 Integrated care doesn't necessarily mean offering MOUD in HIV clinics. Stand-alone HIV care can also serve as an effective bridge to care for OUD if a system for linking it is successfully established. 405 However, studies have shown that an integrated care design—in which HIV care and MOUD are collocated—can be effective at improving outcomes, especially for women. 406

Nonjudgmental medical support

Patients receiving MOUD often highlight the importance of empathetic, nonjudgmental support for meeting their treatment goals.³⁷⁸ Ensuring a nonjudgmental treatment atmosphere and fostering mutual or peer support as part of a comprehensive system of care is important, as patients consistently name these as key facilitators of their retention in care. 407 Numerous resources are available to assist health care and other service providers in developing a nonjudgmental approach. Language guides, which offer practical advice for reducing OUD-related stigma through compassionate communication, are available. These guides include resources produced by former Director of the Office of National Drug Control Policy Michael Botticelli⁴⁰⁸ and the online magazine The Fix. 409 More detailed training guides that address stigma against substance use disorders in the context of treatment are available from the Addiction Technology Transfer Centers Network⁴¹⁰ and the National Harm Reduction Coalition.⁴¹¹

Low-barrier access to one's preferred medication

Personal experiences with and attitudes toward different medications shape each person's preferences and willingness to engage in treatment with MOUD. 412,413 Positive experiences receiving a specific medication for OUD in the past are associated with better retention in care. 407 Likewise, entry and retention in care can be significantly improved by ensuring patients have access to the medications they prefer.

References

- Frieden TR. Six components necessary for effective public health program implementation. Am J Public Health. 2014 Jan;104(1):17–22. PMCID: PMC3910052
- Mattick RP, Breen C, Kimber J, Davoli M. Methadone Maintenance Therapy Versus No Opioid Replacement Therapy for Opioid Dependence. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews [Internet]. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2009 [cited 2014 Jan 30]. Available from: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/ doi/10.1002/14651858.CD002209.pub2/abstract
- Mattick RP, Breen C, Kimber J, Davoli M. Buprenorphine maintenance versus placebo or methadone maintenance for opioid dependence. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014 Feb 6;(2):CD002207. PMID: 24500948
- Comer SD, Sullivan MA, Yu E, Rothenberg JL, Kleber HD, Kampman K, Dackis C, O'Brien CP. Injectable, sustainedrelease naltrexone for the treatment of opioid dependence: a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2006 Feb;63(2):210–218. PMCID: PMC4200530
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. Medication for Opioid Use Disorder [Internet]. Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration; 2018. Report No.: HHS Publication No. (SMA) 18-5063FULLDOC. Available from: https://store.samhsa.gov/system/files/sma18-5063fulldoc.pdf
- Degenhardt L, Bucello C, Mathers B, Briegleb C, Ali H, Hickman M, McLaren J. Mortality among regular or dependent users of heroin and other opioids: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. Addiction. 2011 Jan;106(1):32–51. PMID: 21054613
- Sordo L, Barrio G, Bravo MJ, Indave BI, Degenhardt L, Wiessing L, Ferri M, Pastor-Barriuso R. Mortality risk during and after opioid substitution treatment: systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. BMJ. 2017 Apr 26;357:j1550. PMCID: PMC5421454
- 8. Carroll KM, Weiss RD. The role of behavioral interventions in buprenorphine maintenance treatment: A review. Am J Psychiatry. 2017 Aug 1;174(8):738–747. PMCID: PMC5474206
- U.S. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. Clinical Guidance for Treating Pregnant and Parenting Women with Opioid Use Disorder and Their Infants [Internet]. Rockville, MD; 2018. Report No.: (SMA) 18-5054. Available from: https:// store.samhsa.gov/system/files/sma18-5054.pdf

- 10. U.S. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. Key Substance Use and Mental Health Indicators in the United States: Results from the 2020 National Survey on Drug Use and Health [Internet]. Rockville, MD: Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration; 2021. Available from: https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/reports/ rpt35319/2020NSDUHFFR1PDFW102121.pdf
- U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, Office of Community Planning and Development. The 2018 Annual Homeless Assessment Report (AHAR) to Congress. Part 1: Point in Time Estimates of Homelessness [Internet]. U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development; 2018 [cited 2019 Dec 29]. Available from: https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/ documents/2018-AHAR-Part-1.pdf
- Iheanacho T, Stefanovics E, Rosenheck R. Opioid use disorder and homelessness in the Veterans Health Administration: The challenge of multimorbidity. J Opioid Manag. 2018 Jun;14(3):171–182. PMID: 30044482
- Sawyer W, Wagner P. Mass Incarceration: The Whole Pie 2019 [Internet]. Prison Policy Initiative. 2019 [cited 2019 May 28].
 Available from: https://www.prisonpolicy.org/reports/pie2019.html
- Bronson J, Stroop J, Zimmer S, Berzofsky M. Drug use, dependence, and abuse among state prisoners and jail inmates, 2007-2009 [Internet]. Washington, DC: Bureau of Justice Statistics, Office of Justice Programs, U.S. Department of Justice; 2017 Jun. Report No.: NCJ 250546. Available from: http://www. bjs.gov/index.cfm?ty=pbdetail&iid=5966
- Mumola CJ, Karberg JC. Drug Use and Dependence, State and Federal Prisoners, 2004 [Internet]. Washington, DC: Bureau of Justice Statistics, Office of Justice Programs, U.S. Department of Justice; 2007 Jan. Report No.: NCJ 213530. Available from: https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/dudsfp04.pdf
- 16. Karberg JC, James DJ. Substance Dependence, Abuse, and Treatment of Jail Inmates, 2002 [Internet]. Washington, DC: Bureau of Justice Statistics, Office of Justice Programs, U.S. Department of Justice; 2005 Jul. Available from: https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/sdatji02.pdf
- 17. Compton WM, Dawson D, Duffy SQ, Grant BF. The Effect of Inmate Populations on Estimates of DSM-IV Alcohol and Drug Use Disorders in the United States. Am J Psychiatry. 2010 Apr;167(4):473–474. PMCID: PMC2917586

- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Center for Behavioral Helth Statistics and Quality. Treatment Episode Data Set (TEDS): 2016. Admissions to and Discharges from Publicly Funded Substance Use Treatment [Internet].
 Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration; 2018 [cited 2019 Dec 29]. Available from: https://www.samhsa. gov/data/sites/default/files/cbhsq-reports/2016_Treatment%20 Episode%20Data%20Set_Combined_9_20_18.pdf
- Jones CM, Campopiano M, Baldwin G, McCance-Katz E. National and State Treatment Need and Capacity for Opioid Agonist Medication-Assisted Treatment. Am J Public Health. 2015 Aug;105(8):e55-63. PMCID: PMC4504312
- Sharp A, Jones A, Honermann B, Millett G. Vulnerable counties: One year later [Internet]. Poster Presentation presented at: Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections (CROI); 2018 Mar. Available from: http://www.croiconference.org/sites/ default/files/posters-2018/1430_Sharp_1158.pdf
- National Association of County and City Health Officials. Identifying the Root Causes of Drug Overdose Health Inequities and Related Social Determinants of Health: A Literature Review [Internet]. National Association of County and City Health Officials; 2021 [cited 2021 Nov 4]. Available from: https://www.naccho.org/uploads/downloadable-resources/ IdentifyingtheRootCauses-ofDrugOverdoseHealthInequities.pdf
- Lagisetty PA, Ross R, Bohnert A, Clay M, Maust DT. Buprenorphine Treatment Divide by Race/Ethnicity and Payment. JAMA Psychiatry. 2019 Sep 1;76(9):979–981.
- 23. U.S. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services
 Administration. The Opioid Crisis and teh Black/African
 American Population: An Urgent Issue. [Internet]. Rockville (MD):
 Office of Behavioral Health Equity. Substance Abuse and Mental
 Health Services Administration; 2020. Report No.: PEP20-05-02001,. Available from: https://store.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/
 SAMHSA_Digital_Download/PEP20-05-02-001_508%20Final.pdf
- 24. Schiff DM, Nielsen T, Hoeppner BB, Terplan M, Hansen H, Bernson D, Diop H, Bharel M, Krans EE, Selk S, Kelly JF, Wilens TE, Taveras EM. Assessment of Racial and Ethnic Disparities in the Use of Medication to Treat Opioid Use Disorder Among Pregnant Women in Massachusetts. JAMA Network Open. 2020 May 26;3(5):e205734.
- Hollander MAG, Chang C-CH, Douaihy AB, Hulsey E, Donohue JM. Racial inequity in medication treatment for opioid use disorder: Exploring potential facilitators and barriers to use. Drug and Alcohol Dependence. 2021 Oct 1;227:108927.
- Larochelle MR, Slavova S, Root ED, Feaster DJ, Ward PJ, Selk SC, Knott C, Villani J, Samet JH. Disparities in Opioid Overdose Death Trends by Race/Ethnicity, 2018–2019, From the HEALing Communities Study. Am J Public Health. American Public Health Association; 2021 Oct 1;111(10):1851–1854.
- 27. Hoopsick RA, Homish GG, Leonard KE. Differences in Opioid Overdose Mortality Rates Among Middle-Aged Adults by Race/Ethnicity and Sex, 1999-2018. Public Health Rep. 2021 Apr;136(2):192–200. PMCID: PMC8093836

- Ford BR, Bart G, Grahan B, Shearer RD, Winkelman TNA.
 Associations Between Polysubstance Use Patterns and Receipt of Medications for Opioid Use Disorder Among Adults in Treatment for Opioid Use Disorder. J Addict Med. 2020 Aug 27; PMID: 32868682
- Cicero TJ, Ellis MS, Kasper ZA. Polysubstance Use: A Broader Understanding of Substance Use During the Opioid Crisis. Am J Public Health. 2020;110(2):244–250. PMCID: PMC6951387
- Jeffirs SM, Jarnecke AM, Flanagan JC, Killeen TK, Laffey TF, Back SE. Veterans with PTSD and comorbid substance use disorders: Does single versus poly-substance use disorder affect treatment outcomes? Drug Alcohol Depend. 2019 01;199:70–75. PMCID: PMC6534455
- 31. Hinde J, Hayes J, Mark T, Bernstein S, Karon SL. State and Local Policy Levers for Increasing Treatment and Recovery Capacity to Address the Opioid Epidemic: Final Report [Internet]. Washington, DC: Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evalutaion, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2017 Sep. Available from: https://aspe.hhs.gov/basic-report/state-and-local-policy-levers-increasing-treatment-and-recovery-capacity-address-opioid-epidemic-final-report
- 32. Carroll JJ, Green TC, Noonan RK. Evidence-Based Strategies for Prevention Opioid Overdose: What's Working in the United States [Internet]. National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2018 [cited 2018 Oct 10]. Available from: http://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/pdf/pubs/2018-evidence-based-strategies.pdf
- 33. Eisenstat S, Siegel AL, Carlson K, Ulman K. Putting Group Visits into Practice: APractical Overview to Preparation, Implementation, and Maintenance of Group Visits at Massachusetts General Hospital [Internet]. Massachusetts General Hospital; 2012 [cited 2019 May 29]. Available from: https://www.massgeneral.org/stoecklecenter/assets/pdf/group_visit_guide.pdf
- 34. Sees KL, Delucchi KL, Masson C, Rosen A, Clark HW, Robillard H, Banys P, Hall SM. Methadone maintenance vs 180-day psychosocially enriched detoxification for treatment of opioid dependence: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2000 Mar 8;283(10):1303–1310. PMID: 10714729
- Nielsen S, Larance B, Degenhardt L, Gowing L, Kehler C, Lintzeris N. Opioid agonist treatment for pharmaceutical opioid dependent people. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016 May 9;(5):CD011117. PMID: 27157143
- 36. Wakeman SE, Larochelle MR, Ameli O, Chaisson CE, McPheeters JT, Crown WH, Azocar F, Sanghavi DM. Comparative Effectiveness of Different Treatment Pathways for Opioid Use Disorder. JAMA Netw Open. 2020 Feb 5;3(2):e1920622–e1920622.
- Amato L, Davoli M, Perucci CA, Ferri M, Faggiano F, Mattick RP. An overview of systematic reviews of the effectiveness of opiate maintenance therapies: available evidence to inform clinical practice and research. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2005 Jun;28(4):321– 329. PMID: 15925266

- Faggiano F, Vigna-Taglianti F, Versino E, Lemma P. Methadone maintenance at different dosages for opioid dependence. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2003;(3):CD002208. PMID: 12917925
- Woody GE, Bruce D, Korthuis PT, Chhatre S, Poole S, Hillhouse M, Jacobs P, Sorensen J, Saxon AJ, Metzger D, Ling W. HIV risk reduction with buprenorphine-naloxone or methadone: findings from a randomized trial. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2014 Jul 1;66(3):288–293. PMCID: PMC4146664
- Mattick RP, Ali R, White JM, O'Brien S, Wolk S, Danz C. Buprenorphine versus methadone maintenance therapy: a randomized double-blind trial with 405 opioid-dependent patients. Addiction. 2003 Apr;98(4):441–452. PMID: 12653814
- 41. Hser Y-I, Evans E, Huang D, Weiss R, Saxon A, Carroll KM, Woody G, Liu D, Wakim P, Matthews AG, Hatch-Maillette M, Jelstrom E, Wiest K, McLaughlin P, Ling W. Long-term outcomes after randomization to buprenorphine/naloxone versus methadone in a multi-site trial. Addiction. 2016 Apr;111(4):695–705. PMCID: PMC4801718
- 42. Weiss RD, Potter JS, Fiellin DA, Byrne M, Connery HS, Dickinson W, Gardin J, Griffin ML, Gourevitch MN, Haller DL, Hasson AL, Huang Z, Jacobs P, Kosinski AS, Lindblad R, McCance-Katz EF, Provost SE, Selzer J, Somoza EC, Sonne SC, Ling W. Adjunctive counseling during brief and extended buprenorphine-naloxone treatment for prescription opioid dependence: a 2-phase randomized controlled trial. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2011 Dec;68(12):1238–1246. PMCID: PMC3470422
- Fiellin DA, Schottenfeld RS, Cutter CJ, Moore BA, Barry DT, O'Connor PG. Primary care-based buprenorphine taper vs maintenance therapy for prescription opioid dependence: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Intern Med. 2014 Dec;174(12):1947–1954. PMCID: PMC6167926
- 44. Lund IO, Fitzsimons H, Tuten M, Chisolm MS, O'Grady KE, Jones HE. Comparing methadone and buprenorphine maintenance with methadone-assisted withdrawal for the treatment of opioid dependence during pregnancy: maternal and neonatal outcomes. Subst Abuse Rehabil. 2012;3(Suppl 1):17–25. PMCID: PMC3889178
- 45. Salisbury AL, Coyle MG, O'Grady KE, Heil SH, Martin PR, Stine SM, Kaltenbach K, Weninger M, Jones HE. Fetal assessment before and after dosing with buprenorphine or methadone. Addiction. 2012 Nov;107 Suppl 1:36–44. PMCID: PMC4277183
- Krupitsky E, Nunes EV, Ling W, Illeperuma A, Gastfriend DR, Silverman BL. Injectable extended-release naltrexone for opioid dependence: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicentre randomised trial. Lancet. 2011 Apr 30;377(9776):1506–1513. PMID: 21529928
- 47. Alkermes Inc. VIVITROL (naltrexone for extended-release injectable suspension) Label [Internet]. U.S. Food and Drug Administration; 2010 [cited 2020 Dec 5]. Available from: https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/label/2010/021897s015lbl.pdf
- 48. Lee JD, Nunes EV, Novo P, Bachrach K, Bailey GL, Bhatt S, Farkas S, Fishman M, Gauthier P, Hodgkins CC, King J, Lindblad R, Liu D, Matthews AG, May J, Peavy KM, Ross S, Salazar D, Schkolnik P, Shmueli-Blumberg D, Stablein D, Subramaniam G, Rotrosen J. Comparative effectiveness of extended-release naltrexone versus buprenorphine-naloxone for opioid relapse prevention (X:BOT): a multicentre, open-label, randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2018 27;391(10118):309–318. PMCID: PMC5806119

- 49. Morgan JR, Schackman BR, Leff JA, Linas BP, Walley AY. Injectable naltrexone, oral naltrexone, and buprenorphine utilization and discontinuation among individuals treated for opioid use disorder in a United States commercially insured population. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2018;85:90–96. PMCID: PMC5750108
- Larochelle MR, Bernson D, Land T, Stopka TJ, Wang N, Xuan Z, Bagley SM, Liebschutz JM, Walley AY. Medication for Opioid Use Disorder After Nonfatal Opioid Overdose and Association With Mortality: A Cohort Study. Ann Intern Med. 2018 07;169(3):137– 145. PMCID: PMC6387681
- Morgan JR, Schackman BR, Weinstein ZM, Walley AY, Linas BP. Overdose following initiation of naltrexone and buprenorphine medication treatment for opioid use disorder in a United States commercially insured cohort. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2019 01;200:34–39. PMCID: PMC6613830
- 52. Ajazi EM, Dasgupta N, Marshall SW, Monaco J, Howard AG, Preisser JS, Schwartz TA. Revisiting the X: BOT Naltrexone Clinical Trial Using a Comprehensive Survival Analysis. Journal of Addiction Medicine [Internet]. 2021 Dec 3 [cited 2021 Dec 8]; Available from: https://journals.lww.com/journaladdictionmedicine/abstract/9000/revisiting_the_x_bot_naltrexone_clinical_trial.98977.aspx
- 53. Center for Drug Evaluation and Research. Warning Letter: Alkermes, Inc. MARCS-CMS 597260 [Internet]. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. 2019 [cited 2019 Dec 28]. Available from: http://www.fda.gov/inspections-compliance-enforcement-and-criminal-investigations/warning-letters/alkermes-inc-597260-12022019
- 54. U.S. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. TIP 63: Medications for Opioid Use Disorder [Internet]. U.S. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration; 2020 May. Report No.: PEP20-02-01-006. Available from: https://store.samhsa.gov/product/TIP-63-Medications-for-Opioid-Use-Disorder-Full-Document/PEP20-02-01-006
- 55. Gardner EM, McLees MP, Steiner JF, Del Rio C, Burman WJ. The spectrum of engagement in HIV care and its relevance to test-and-treat strategies for prevention of HIV infection. Clin Infect Dis. 2011 Mar 15;52(6):793–800. PMCID: PMC3106261
- Williams AR, Nunes EV, Bisaga A, Levin FR, Olfson M.
 Development of a Cascade of Care for responding to the opioid epidemic. Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse. 2019;45(1):1–10. PMCID: PMC6404749
- Perlman DC, Jordan AE. The Syndemic of Opioid Misuse, Overdose, HCV, and HIV: Structural-Level Causes and Interventions. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. 2018;15(2):96–112. PMCID: PMC5884743
- 58. O'Donnell J. Notes from the Field: Opioid-Involved Overdose Deaths with Fentanyl or Fentanyl Analogs Detected 28 States and the District of Columbia, July 2016–December 2018. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 Mar 19];69. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/69/wr/mm6910a4.htm
- O'Donnell J, Gladden M, Mattson CL, Kariisa M. Notes from the Field: Overdose Deaths with Carfentanil and Other Fentanyl Analogs Detected — 10 States, July 2016–June 2017. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2018;67(27):767–768.

- 60. Mars SG, Ondocsin J, Ciccarone D. Sold as Heroin: Perceptions and Use of an Evolving Drug in Baltimore, MD. J Psychoactive Drugs. 2018 Jun;50(2):167–176. PMCID: PMC6114137
- 61. Carroll JJ, Marshall BDL, Rich JD, Green TC. Exposure to fentanyl-contaminated heroin and overdose risk among illicit opioid users in Rhode Island: A mixed methods study. International Journal of Drug Policy. 2017 Jun 1;46(0):136–145. PMID: 28578864
- 62. Compton WM, Jones CM, Baldwin GT. Relationship between Nonmedical Prescription-Opioid Use and Heroin Use. New England Journal of Medicine. 2016 Jan 14;374(2):154–163. PMID: 26760086
- 63. Felitti VJ, Anda RF, Nordenberg D, Williamson DF, Spitz AM, Edwards V, Koss MP, Marks JS. Relationship of Childhood Abuse and Household Dysfunction to Many of the Leading Causes of Death in Adults: The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) Study. American Journal of Preventive Medicine. 1998 May 1;14(4):245–258.
- 64. Cicero TJ, Ellis MS. Understanding the demand side of the prescription opioid epidemic: Does the initial source of opioids matter? Drug and Alcohol Dependence. 2017 Apr 1;173(Suppliment 1):S4–S10.
- 65. Kaye AD, Jones MR, Kaye AM, Ripoll JG, Galan V, Beakley BD, Calixto F, Bolden JL, Urman RD, Manchikanti L. Prescription Opioid Abuse in Chronic Pain: An Updated Review of Opioid Abuse Predictors and Strategies to Curb Opioid Abuse: Part 1. Pain Physician. 2017;20(2S):S93–S109. PMID: 28226333
- Hassan AN, Foll BL, Imtiaz S, Rehm J. The effect of post-traumatic stress disorder on the risk of developing prescription opioid use disorder: Results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions III. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2017 01;179:260–266. PMID: 28818717
- 67. Winkelman TNA, Chang VW, Binswanger IA. Health, Polysubstance Use, and Criminal Justice Involvement Among Adults With Varying Levels of Opioid Use. JAMA Netw Open. 2018 Jul 6;1(3):e180558–e180558.
- Bukten A, Stavseth MR, Skurtveit S, Tverdal A, Strang J, Clausen T. High risk of overdose death following release from prison: variations in mortality during a 15-year observation period. Addiction. 2017 Aug;112(8):1432–1439. PMID: 28319291
- Binswanger IA, Blatchford P, Mueller SR, Stern M. Mortality after prison release: opioid overdose and other causes of death, risk factors, and time trends from 1999 to 2009. Annals of Internal Medicine. 2013;159(9):592–600.
- Ranapurwala SI, Shanahan ME, Alexandridis AA, Proescholdbell SK, Naumann RB, Edwards D, Marshall SW. Opioid Overdose Mortality Among Former North Carolina Inmates: 2000–2015. Am J Public Health. 2018 Jul 19;e1–e7.
- Bohnert ASB, Valenstein M, Bair MJ, Ganoczy D, McCarthy JF, Ilgen MA, Blow FC. Association Between Opioid Prescribing Patterns and Opioid Overdose-Related Deaths. JAMA. 2011 Apr 6;305(13):1315–1321.
- 72. Garg RK, Fulton-Kehoe D, Franklin GM. Patterns of Opioid Use and Risk of Opioid Overdose Death Among Medicaid Patients. Med Care. 2017;55(7):661–668. PMID: 28614178

- Somerville NJ, O'Donnell J, Gladden RM, Zibbell JE, Green TC, Younkin M, Ruiz S, Babakhanlou-Chase H, Chan M, Callis BP, Kuramoto-Crawford J, Nields HM, Walley AY. Characteristics of Fentanyl Overdose - Massachusetts, 2014-2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2017 Apr 14;66(14):382–386. PMCID: PMC5657806
- 74. Coffin PO, Tracy M, Bucciarelli A, Ompad D, Vlahov D, Galea S. Identifying injection drug users at risk of nonfatal overdose. Acad Emerg Med. 2007 Jul;14(7):616–623. PMID: 17554010
- 75. Stoové MA, Dietze PM, Jolley D. Overdose deaths following previous non-fatal heroin overdose: record linkage of ambulance attendance and death registry data. Drug Alcohol Rev. 2009 Jul;28(4):347–352. PMID: 19594787
- Britton PC, Wines JD, Conner KR. Non-fatal overdose in the 12 months following treatment for substance use disorders. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2010 Feb 1;107(1):51–55. PMCID: PMC2818271
- 77. Donaldson K, Demers L, Taylor K, Lopez J, Chang S. Multi-variant Genetic Panel for Genetic Risk of Opioid Addiction. Ann Clin Lab Sci. 2017 Aug;47(4):452–456. PMID: 28801372
- 78. Berrettini W. A brief review of the genetics and pharmacogenetics of opioid use disorders. Dialogues Clin Neurosci. 2017;19(3):229–236. PMCID: PMC5741106
- 79. Brondani MA, Alan R, Donnelly L. Stigma of addiction and mental illness in healthcare: The case of patients' experiences in dental settings. PLoS ONE. 2017;12(5):e0177388. PMCID: PMC5439661
- 80. DeFlavio JR, Rolin SA, Nordstrom BR, Kazal LA. Analysis of barriers to adoption of buprenorphine maintenance therapy by family physicians. Rural Remote Health. 2015;15:3019. PMID: 25651434
- Livingston JD, Adams E, Jordan M, MacMillan Z, Hering R. Primary Care Physicians' Views about Prescribing Methadone to Treat Opioid Use Disorder. Subst Use Misuse. 2018 Jan 28;53(2):344–353. PMID: 28853970
- Bagley SM, Hadland SE, Carney BL, Saitz R. Addressing Stigma in Medication Treatment of Adolescents With Opioid Use Disorder. J Addict Med. 2017 Dec;11(6):415–416. PMID: 28767537
- 83. Kennedy-Hendricks A, Barry CL, Gollust SE, Ensminger ME, Chisolm MS, McGinty EE. Social Stigma Toward Persons With Prescription Opioid Use Disorder: Associations With Public Support for Punitive and Public Health-Oriented Policies. Psychiatr Serv. 2017 May 1;68(5):462–469. PMID: 28045350
- 84. Bird SM, McAuley A, Perry S, Hunter C. Effectiveness of Scotland's National Naloxone Programme for reducing opioid-related deaths: a before (2006-10) versus after (2011-13) comparison. Addiction. 2016 May;111(5):883–891. PMCID: PMC4982071
- 85. Samuels E. Emergency department naloxone distribution: a Rhode Island department of health, recovery community, and emergency department partnership to reduce opioid overdose deaths. R I Med J (2013). 2014 Oct 1;97(10):38–39. PMID: 25271659
- Devries J, Rafie S, Polston G. Implementing an overdose education and naloxone distribution program in a health system. J Am Pharm Assoc (2003). 2017 Apr;57(2S):S154–S160. PMID: 28233681

- 87. National Institute on Drug Abuse. Screening and Assessment Tools Chart [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2019 May 31]. Available from: https://www.drugabuse.gov/nidamed-medical-health-professionals/screening-tools-resources/chart-screening-tools
- American Society of Addiction Medicine. ASAM eLearning: Screening & Assessment [Internet]. The ASAM e-Learning Center. 2019 [cited 2019 Dec 28]. Available from: https://elearning.asam. org/screening-assessment
- 89. DSM-5 Criteria for the Diagnosis of Opioid Use Disorder [Internet]. American Society of Addiction Medicine Inc.; 2017 [cited 2020 Jan 1]. Available from: https://www.asam.org/docs/default-source/education-docs/dsm-5-dx-oud-8-28-2017.pdf
- American Psychiatric Association. DSM-5: Frequently Asked Questions [Internet]. American Psychiatric Association. 2019 [cited 2019 Dec 28]. Available from: https://www.psychiatry.org/psychiatrists/practice/dsm/feedback-and-questions/frequently-asked-questions
- 91. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders: DSM-5. Washington DC: Author; 2013.
- Carman KL, Dardess P, Maurer M, Sofaer S, Adams K, Bechtel C, Sweeney J. Patient and family engagement: a framework for understanding the elements and developing interventions and policies. Health Aff (Millwood). 2013 Feb;32(2):223–231. PMID: 23381514
- 93. Minister of Healh and Long-Term Care Advisory Group. Every Door is the Right Door: Towards a 10-Year Mental Health and Addictions Strategy. A Discussion Paper [Internet]. Ontario, Canada: Camada Mental Health Association; 2009 Jul. Available from: http://ontario.cmha.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/ Every-Door-the-Right-Door-July09-MH-discussion-paper.pdf
- 94. Leukefeld CG, Tims FM. Compulsory treatment: a review of findings. NIDA Res Monogr. 1988;86:236–251. PMID: 3140033
- 95. Connery HS. Medication-assisted treatment of opioid use disorder: review of the evidence and future directions. Harv Rev Psychiatry. 2015 Apr;23(2):63–75. PMID: 25747920
- Andrews CM, Abraham AJ, Grogan CM, Westlake MA, Pollack HA, Friedmann PD. Impact of Medicaid Restrictions on Availability of Buprenorphine in Addiction Treatment Programs. Am J Public Health. 2019 Mar;109(3):434–436. PMCID: PMC6366513
- 97. D'Onofrio G, Chawarski MC, O'Connor PG, Pantalon MV, Busch SH, Owens PH, Hawk K, Bernstein SL, Fiellin DA. Emergency Department-Initiated Buprenorphine for Opioid Dependence with Continuation in Primary Care: Outcomes During and After Intervention. J Gen Intern Med. 2017 Feb 13; PMID: 28194688
- Lee JD, Vocci F, Fiellin DA. Unobserved "home" induction onto buprenorphine. J Addict Med. 2014 Oct;8(5):299–308. PMID: 25254667
- Bhatraju EP, Grossman E, Tofighi B, McNeely J, DiRocco D, Flannery M, Garment A, Goldfeld K, Gourevitch MN, Lee JD. Public sector low threshold office-based buprenorphine treatment: outcomes at year 7. Addict Sci Clin Pract. 2017 28;12(1):7. PMCID: PMC5331716

- 100. Cunningham CO, Giovanniello A, Li X, Kunins HV, Roose RJ, Sohler NL. A comparison of buprenorphine induction strategies: patient-centered home-based inductions versus standardof-care office-based inductions. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2011 Jun;40(4):349–356. PMCID: PMC3081891
- Sohler NL, Li X, Kunins HV, Sacajiu G, Giovanniello A, Whitley S, Cunningham CO. Home- versus office-based buprenorphine inductions for opioid-dependent patients. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2010 Mar;38(2):153–159. PMCID: PMC2849656
- 102. Watson DP, Brucker K, McGuire A, Snow-Hill NL, Xu H, Cohen A, Campbell M, Robison L, Sightes E, Buhner R, O'Donnell D, Kline JA. Replication of an emergency department-based recovery coaching intervention and pilot testing of pragmatic trial protocols within the context of Indiana's Opioid State Targeted Response plan. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2019 Jun 6; PMID: 31200985
- 103. Krawczyk N, Buresh M, Gordon MS, Blue TR, Fingerhood MI, Agus D. Expanding low-threshold buprenorphine to justiceinvolved individuals through mobile treatment: Addressing a critical care gap. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2019 Aug;103:1–8. PMCID: PMC6612429
- 104. Samuels EA, Baird J, Yang ES, Mello MJ. Adoption and Utilization of an Emergency Department Naloxone Distribution and Peer Recovery Coach Consultation Program. Acad Emerg Med. 2019 Feb;26(2):160–173. PMID: 30074673
- 105. Anchor Recovery Community Center. Training Anchor Recovery Community Center [Internet]. Anchor Recovery Community Center: Peer Recovery Support. 2019 [cited 2019 Jul 16]. Available from: https://anchorrecovery.org/training/
- 106. U.S. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services
 Administration. Become a Buprenorphine Waivered Practitioner
 [Internet]. SAMHSA. 2020 [cited 2020 Oct 1]. Available from:
 https://www.samhsa.gov/medication-assisted-treatment/
 become-buprenorphine-waivered-practitioner
- 107. Doolittle B, Becker W. A case series of buprenorphine/naloxone treatment in a primary care practice. Subst Abus. 2011 Oct;32(4):262–265. PMID: 22014257
- 108. U.S. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. Methadone [Internet]. SAMHSA. 2015 [cited 2020 Feb 9]. Available from: https://www.samhsa.gov/ medication-assisted-treatment/treatment/methadone
- 109. U.S. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. Naltrexone [Internet]. SAMHSA. 2019 [cited 2019 May 28]. Available from: https://www.samhsa.gov/medication-assisted-treatment/treatment/naltrexone
- 110. U.S. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services
 Administration. FAQs About the New Buprenorphine Practice
 Guidelines [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2021 Oct 22]. Available from:
 https://www.samhsa.gov/medication-assisted-treatment/
 become-buprenorphine-waivered-practitioner/new-practicequidelines-faqs
- 111. Stone AC, Carroll JJ, Rich JD, Green TC. Methadone maintenance treatment among patients exposed to illicit fentanyl in Rhode Island: Safety, dose, retention, and relapse at 6 months. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2018 01;192:94–97. PMID: 30243145

- 112. Hadland SE, Bagley SM, Rodean J, Silverstein M, Levy S, Larochelle MR, Samet JH, Zima BT. Receipt of Timely Addiction Treatment and Association of Early Medication Treatment With Retention in Care Among Youths With Opioid Use Disorder. JAMA Pediatr. 2018 01;172(11):1029–1037. PMCID: PMC6218311
- 113. D'Onofrio G, O'Connor PG, Pantalon MV, Chawarski MC, Busch SH, Owens PH, Bernstein SL, Fiellin DA. Emergency department-initiated buprenorphine/naloxone treatment for opioid dependence: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2015 Apr 28;313(16):1636–1644. PMCID: PMC4527523
- 114. Damon W, Small W, Anderson S, Maher L, Wood E, Kerr T, McNeil R. "Crisis" and "everyday" initiators: A qualitative study of coercion and agency in the context of methadone maintenance treatment initiation. Drug Alcohol Rev. 2017;36(2):253–260. PMCID: PMC5086307
- 115. Strang J, McCambridge J, Best D, Beswick T, Bearn J, Rees S, Gossop M. Loss of tolerance and overdose mortality after inpatient opiate detoxification: follow up study. BMJ. 2003 May 3;326(7396):959–960. PMCID: PMC153851
- Wines JD, Saitz R, Horton NJ, Lloyd-Travaglini C, Samet JH.
 Overdose after detoxification: a prospective study. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2007 Jul 10;89(2–3):161–169. PMID: 17280803
- 117. Chang DC, Klimas J, Wood E, Fairbairn N. A Case of Opioid Overdose and Subsequent Death After Medically Supervised Withdrawal: The Problematic Role of Rapid Tapers for Opioid Use Disorder. J Addict Med. 2018 Feb;12(1):80–83. PMCID: PMC5786466
- 118. Nunes EV, Gordon M, Friedmann PD, Fishman MJ, Lee JD, Chen DT, Hu MC, Boney TY, Wilson D, O'Brien CP. Relapse to opioid use disorder after inpatient treatment: Protective effect of injection naltrexone. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2018 Feb;85:49–55. PMCID: PMC5755382
- 119. Banta-Green C, Newman A, Kingston S. Washington State Syringe Exchange Health Survey: 2017 Results [Internet]. Alcohol and Drug Abuse Institute at the University of Washington; 2018 [cited 2019 Dec 29]. Available from: https://adai.uw.edu/pubs/ pdf/2017syringeexchangehealthsurvey.pdf
- 120. Frost MC, Williams EC, Kingston S, Banta-Green CJ. Interest in Getting Help to Reduce or Stop Substance Use Among Syringe Exchange Clients Who Use Opioids. J Addict Med. 2018 Dec;12(6):428–434. PMID: 29889118
- 121. Jarvis BP, Holtyn AF, Subramaniam S, Tompkins DA, Oga EA, Bigelow GE, Silverman K. Extended-release injectable naltrexone for opioid use disorder: A systematic review. Addiction. 2018 Jul;113(7):1188–1209. PMCID: PMC5993595
- Mattick RP, Breen C, Kimber J, Davoli M. Buprenorphine maintenance versus placebo or methadone maintenance for opioid dependence. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014 Feb 6;(2):CD002207. PMID: 24500948
- 123. Gowing LR, Farrell M, Bornemann R, Sullivan LE, Ali RL. Brief report: Methadone treatment of injecting opioid users for prevention of HIV infection. J Gen Intern Med. 2006 Feb;21(2):193–195. PMCID: PMC1484643

- 124. Tran TH, Griffin BL, Stone RH, Vest KM, Todd TJ. Methadone, Buprenorphine, and Naltrexone for the Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder in Pregnant Women. Pharmacotherapy. 2017 Jul;37(7):824–839. PMID: 28543191
- 125. Perlman DC, Jordan AE, Uuskula A, Huong DT, Masson CL, Schackman BR, Des Jarlais DC. An international perspective on using opioid substitution treatment to improve hepatitis C prevention and care for people who inject drugs: Structural barriers and public health potential. Int J Drug Policy. 2015 Nov;26(11):1056–1063. PMCID: PMC4581906
- 126. Bart G. Maintenance Medication for Opiate Addiction: The Foundation of Recovery. J Addict Dis. 2012 Jul;31(3):207–225. PMCID: PMC3411273
- 127. Sullivan M, Bisaga A, Pavlicova M, Choi CJ, Mishlen K, Carpenter KM, Levin FR, Dakwar E, Mariani JJ, Nunes EV. Long-Acting Injectable Naltrexone Induction: A Randomized Trial of Outpatient Opioid Detoxification With Naltrexone Versus Buprenorphine. Am J Psychiatry. 2017 01;174(5):459–467. PMCID: PMC5411308
- 128. Wilder CM, Hosta D, Winhusen T. Association of methadone dose with substance use and treatment retention in pregnant and postpartum women with opioid use disorder. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2017;80:33–36. PMID: 28755770
- 129. Cousins G, Boland F, Barry J, Lyons S, Keenan E, O'Driscoll D, Bennett K, Fahey T. J-shaped relationship between supervised methadone consumption and retention in methadone maintenance treatment (MMT) in primary care: National cohort study. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2017 Apr 1;173:126–131. PMID: 28232249
- 130. Ling W, Charuvastra C, Collins JF, Batki S, Brown LS, Kintaudi P, Wesson DR, McNicholas L, Tusel DJ, Malkerneker U, Renner JA, Santos E, Casadonte P, Fye C, Stine S, Wang Rl, Segal D. Buprenorphine maintenance treatment of opiate dependence: a multicenter, randomized clinical trial. Addiction. 1998 Apr;93(4):475–486. PMID: 9684386
- 131. Meinhofer A, Williams AR, Johnson P, Schackman BR, Bao Y. Prescribing decisions at buprenorphine treatment initiation: Do they matter for treatment discontinuation and adverse opioid-related events? J Subst Abuse Treat. 2019 Oct;105:37–43. PMCID: PMC6731543
- 132. Schwartz RP, Kelly SM, Mitchell SG, Gryczynski J, O'Grady KE, Gandhi D, Olsen Y, Jaffe JH. Patient-centered methadone treatment: a randomized clinical trial. Addiction. 2017;112(3):454–464. PMCID: PMC5296234
- 133. Timko C, Schultz NR, Cucciare MA, Vittorio L, Garrison-Diehn C. Retention in medication-assisted treatment for opiate dependence: A systematic review. J Addict Dis. 2016;35(1):22– 35. PMCID: PMC6542472
- 134. Frank L, Basch E, Selby JV. The PCORI Perspective on Patient-Centered Outcomes Research. JAMA. 2014 Oct 15;312(15):1513.
- 135. Jayadevappa R. Patient-Centered Outcomes Research and Patient-Centered Care for Older Adults. Gerontol Geriatr Med [Internet]. 2017 Mar 23 [cited 2020 Oct 3];3. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5433669/PMCID: PMC5433669

- 136. Morrison M. Two Decades of Positive Change: A Brief History of the Harm Reduction Coalition Comer Family Foundation [Internet]. Comer Family Foundation. 2020 [cited 2020 Oct 3]. Available from: https://www.comerfamilyfoundation.org/articles/two-decades-of-positive-change-a-brief-history-of-the-harm-reduction-coalition
- 137. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Opioid Use Disorder:
 Endpoints for Demonstrating Effectiveness of Drugs for
 Medication-Assisted Treatment Guidance for Industry [Internet].
 Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services,
 Center for Drug Evalation and Research; 2018 Aug. Available from:
 http://www.fda.gov/regulatory-information/search-fda-guidance-documents/opioid-use-disorder-endpoints-demonstrating-effectiveness-drugs-medication-assisted-treatment
- 138. Volkow ND, Woodcock J, Compton WM, Throckmorton DC, Skolnick P, Hertz S, Wargo EM. Medication development in opioid addiction: Meaningful clinical end points. Science Translational Medicine. 2018 Mar 28;10(434):eaan2595. PMID: 29593105
- 139. Whitter M, Hillman DJ, Powers P, Taitt SB. Recovery-Oriented Systems of Care (ROSC) Resource Guide Working Draft [Internet]. Rockville, MD: U.S. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration; 2010. Available from: https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/rosc_resource_guide_book.pdf
- 140. Sheedy CK. Guiding Principle and Elements of Recovery-Oriented Systems of Care: What Do We Know from the Research? [Internet]. Rockville, MD: U.S. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration; 2009. Report No.: (SMA) 09-4439. Available from: https://www.naadac.org/assets/2416/ sheedyckwhitterm2009_guiding_principles_and_elements.pdf
- 141. American Society of Addiction Medicine. The ASAM National Practice Guideline for the Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder: 2020 Focused Update [Internet]. American Society of Addiction Medicine Inc.; 2020 [cited 2021 Dec 8]. Available from: https://www.asam.org/quality-care/clinical-guidelines/national-practice-guideline
- 142. American Society of Addiction Medicine. The ASAM Standards of Care for the Addiction Specialist Physician [Internet]. American Society of Addiction Medicine Inc.; 2014 [cited 2019 Dec 28]. Available from: https://www.asam.org/docs/default-source/practice-support/quality-improvement/asam-standards-of-care.pdf?sfvrsn=338068c2_10
- 143. U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. PRS Criteria for Evidence-Based Interventions (EBIs) for Linkage to, Retention in, and Re-engagement in HIV Care (LRC) [Internet]. U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2017 [cited 2020 Jan 1]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/pdf/research/interventionresearch/ compendium/lrc/cdc-hiv-lrc_criteria_ebis.pdf
- 144. Sackett DL, Rosenberg WM, Gray JA, Haynes RB, Richardson WS. Evidence Based Medicine: What It Is and What It Isn't. BMJ. 1996 Jan 13;312(7023):71–72. PMCID: PMC2349778
- 145. Gupta S, Brenner AT, Ratanawongsa N, Inadomi JM. Patient trust in physician influences colorectal cancer screening in low-income patients. Am J Prev Med. 2014 Oct;47(4):417–423. PMCID: PMC4171139

- 146. Blackstock OJ, Addison DN, Brennan JS, Alao OA. Trust in primary care providers and antiretroviral adherence in an urban HIV clinic. J Health Care Poor Underserved. 2012 Feb;23(1):88–98. PMID: 22643464
- 147. AlRuthia Y, Almalag H, Sales I, Albassam AA, Alharbi FA, Almutairi AM, Alquait N, Asiri Y. The relationship between trust in primary care physicians and medication knowledge among diabetic patients. Res Social Adm Pharm. 2018 Aug 9; PMID: 30115509
- 148. Hawk K, D'Onofrio G, Fiellin DA, Chawarski MC, O'Connor PG, Owens PH, Pantalon MV, Bernstein SL. Past-year Prescription Drug Monitoring Program Opioid Prescriptions and Selfreported Opioid Use in an Emergency Department Population With Opioid Use Disorder. Acad Emerg Med. 2018;25(5):508–516. PMCID: PMC5963969
- 149. Simon CB, Tsui JI, Merrill JO, Adwell A, Tamru E, Klein JW. Linking patients with buprenorphine treatment in primary care: Predictors of engagement. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2017 01;181:58–62. PMID: 29035705
- 150. Najt P, Fusar-Poli P, Brambilla P. Co-occurring mental and substance abuse disorders: A review on the potential predictors and clinical outcomes. Psychiatry Research. 2011 Apr 30;186(2):159–164.
- 151. Raffel KE, Beach LY, Lin J, Berchuck JE, Abram S, Markle E, Patel S. Naloxone Distribution and Training for Patients with High-Risk Opioid Use in a Veterans Affairs Community-Based Primary Care Clinic. Perm J [Internet]. 2018 Mar 30 [cited 2019 Dec 30];22. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5882191/PMCID: PMC5882191
- 152. Guy GP. Vital Signs: Pharmacy-Based Naloxone Dispensing — United States, 2012–2018. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2019 Dec 30];68. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/68/wr/mm6831e1.htm
- 153. Bernstein SL, D'Onofrio G. Screening, treatment initiation, and referral for substance use disorders. Addiction Science & Clinical Practice. 2017 Aug 7;12(1):18.
- 154. Srivastava A, Kahan M, Leece P, McAndrew A. Buprenorphine unobserved "home" induction: a survey of Ontario's addiction physicians. Addiction Science & Clinical Practice. 2019 May 1;14(1):18.
- 155. Walley AY, Alperen JK, Cheng DM, Botticelli M, Castro-Donlan C, Samet JH, Alford DP. Office-based management of opioid dependence with buprenorphine: clinical practices and barriers. J Gen Intern Med. 2008 Sep;23(9):1393–1398. PMCID: PMC2518016
- 156. Kermack A, Flannery M, Tofighi B, McNeely J, Lee JD. Buprenorphine prescribing practice trends and attitudes among New York providers. Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment. 2017 Mar 1;74:1–6. PMID: 28132694
- 157. Gourevitch MN, Chatterji P, Deb N, Schoenbaum EE, Turner BJ. On-site medical care in methadone maintenance: associations with health care use and expenditures. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2007 Mar;32(2):143–151. PMID: 17306723
- 158. Weinstein ZM, Kim HW, Cheng DM, Quinn E, Hui D, Labelle CT, Drainoni M-L, Bachman SS, Samet JH. Long-term retention in Office Based Opioid Treatment with buprenorphine. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2017;74:65–70. PMCID: PMC5312773

- Barry CL, Epstein AJ, Fiellin DA, Fraenkel L, Busch SH. Estimating demand for primary care-based treatment for substance and alcohol use disorders. Addiction. 2016;111(8):1376–1384. PMCID: PMC4940268
- 160. Fiellin DA, Moore BA, Sullivan LE, Becker WC, Pantalon MV, Chawarski MC, Barry DT, O'Connor PG, Schottenfeld RS. Long-term treatment with buprenorphine/naloxone in primary care: results at 2-5 years. Am J Addict. 2008 Apr;17(2):116–120. PMID: 18393054
- 161. Soeffing JM, Martin LD, Fingerhood MI, Jasinski DR, Rastegar DA. Buprenorphine maintenance treatment in a primary care setting: outcomes at 1 year. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2009 Dec;37(4):426–430. PMID: 19553061
- 162. Lagisetty P, Klasa K, Bush C, Heisler M, Chopra V, Bohnert A. Primary care models for treating opioid use disorders: What actually works? A systematic review. PLoS ONE. 2017;12(10):e0186315. PMCID: PMC5645096
- 163. Lucas GM, Chaudhry A, Hsu J, Woodson T, Lau B, Olsen Y, Keruly JC, Fiellin DA, Finkelstein R, Barditch-Crovo P, Cook K, Moore RD. Clinic-based treatment of opioid-dependent HIV-infected patients versus referral to an opioid treatment program: A randomized trial. Ann Intern Med. 2010 Jun 1;152(11):704–711. PMCID: PMC2886293
- 164. Brooklyn JR, Sigmon SC. Vermont Hub-and-Spoke Model of Care for Opioid Use Disorder: Development, Implementation, and Impact. J Addict Med. 2017 Aug;11(4):286–292. PMCID: PMC5537005
- 165. Darfler K, Sandoval J, Pearce Antonini V, Urada D. Preliminary results of the evaluation of the California Hub and Spoke Program. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2020;108:26–32. PMID: 31400985
- 166. Reif S, Brolin MF, Stewart MT, Fuchs TJ, Speaker E, Mazel SB. The Washington State Hub and Spoke Model to increase access to medication treatment for opioid use disorders. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2020;108:33–39. PMCID: PMC6893117
- 167. Winstanley EL, Lander LR, Berry JH, Mahoney JJ, Zheng W, Herschler J, Marshalek P, Sayres S, Mason J, Haut MW. West Virginia's model of buprenorphine expansion: Preliminary results. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2020;108:40–47. PMCID: PMC7055678
- 168. Korthuis PT, McCarty D, Weimer M, Bougatsos C, Blazina I, Zakher B, Grusing S, Devine B, Chou R. Primary Care–Based Models for the Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder: A Scoping Review. Ann Intern Med. 2017 Feb 21;166(4):268.
- 169. Komaromy M, Duhigg D, Metcalf A, Carlson C, Kalishman S, Hayes L, Burke T, Thornton K, Arora S. Project ECHO (Extension for Community Healthcare Outcomes): A new model for educating primary care providers about treatment of substance use disorders. Subst Abus. 2016;37(1):20–24. PMCID: PMC4873719
- 170. Carlin L, Zhao J, Dubin R, Taenzer P, Sidrak H, Furlan A. Project ECHO Telementoring Intervention for Managing Chronic Pain in Primary Care: Insights from a Qualitative Study. Pain Med. 2018 Jun 1;19(6):1140–1146.
- 171. McConnell KJ. Oregon's Medicaid Coordinated Care Organizations. JAMA. 2016 Mar 1;315(9):869–870. PMCID: PMC4939819
- 172. Oregon Health Authority. Coordinated Care Organizations (CCO) [Internet]. Oregon.gov. 2019 [cited 2019 May 28]. Available from: https://www.oregon.gov/oha/hsd/ohp/pages/coordinated-care-organizations.aspx

- 173. Eisenstat S, Siegel AL, Carlson K, Ulman K. Putting Group Visits into Practice: APractical Overview to Preparation, Implementation, and Maintenance of Group Visits at Massachusetts General Hospital [Internet]. Massachusetts General Hospital; 2012 [cited 2019 May 29]. Available from: https://www.massgeneral.org/stoecklecenter/assets/pdf/group_visit_guide.pdf
- 174. Vivolo-Kantor AM. Vital Signs: Trends in Emergency Department Visits for Suspected Opioid Overdoses — United States, July 2016–September 2017. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2019 May 28];67. Available from: https://www.cdc. gov/mmwr/volumes/67/wr/mm6709e1.htm
- 175. Guy GP, Pasalic E, Zhang K. Emergency Department Visits Involving Opioid Overdoses, U.S., 2010-2014. Am J Prev Med. 2018 Jan;54(1):e37–e39. PMCID: PMC6020135
- 176. Miller AC, Polgreen PM. Many Opportunities to Record, Diagnose, or Treat Injection Drug-related Infections Are Missed: A Population-based Cohort Study of Inpatient and Emergency Department Settings. Clin Infect Dis. 2019 Mar 19;68(7):1166– 1175. PMID: 30215683
- 177. Boudreaux ED, Haskins B, Harralson T, Bernstein E. The Remote Brief Intervention and Referral to Treatment Model: Development, Functionality, Acceptability, and Feasibility. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2015 Oct 1;155:236–242. PMCID: PMC4624210
- 178. Gunn AH, Smothers ZPW, Schramm-Sapyta N, Freiermuth CE, MacEachern M, Muzyk AJ. The Emergency Department as an Opportunity for Naloxone Distribution. West J Emerg Med. 2018 Nov;19(6):1036–1042. PMCID: PMC6225944
- 179. National Institute on Drug Abuse. Initiating Buprenorphine Treatment in the Emergency Department [Internet]. National Institute on Drug Abuse. 2019 [cited 2020 Feb 9]. Available from: https://www.drugabuse.gov/nidamed-medical-health-professionals/discipline-specific-resources/initiating-buprenorphine-treatment-in-emergency-department
- 180. Yale School of Medicine. ED-Initiated Buprenorphine (Buprenorphine Treatment Algorithm) [Internet]. Yale School of Medicine; 2020 [cited 2020 Feb 9]. Available from: https://medicine.yale.edu/edbup/Algorithm_338052_5_v2.pdf
- 181. Buprenorphine Algorithm & BNI. ED-Initiated Buprenorphine [Internet]. ED-Initiated Buprenorphine. 2020 [cited 2020 Feb 9]. Available from: https://medicine.yale.edu/edbup/treatment
- 182. MDCalc. COWS Score for Opiate Withdrawal [Internet]. MDCalc. 2019 [cited 2019 May 28]. Available from: https://www.mdcalc. com/cows-score-opiate-withdrawal
- 183. Yale School of Medicine. A Guide for Patients Beginning Buprenorphine Treatment at Home [Internet]. Yale School of Medicine; 2020 [cited 2020 Feb 9]. Available from: https:// medicine.yale.edu/edbup/quickstart/Home_Buprenorphine_ Initiation_338574_42801_v1.pdf
- 184. Herring AA, Vosooghi AA, Luftig J, Anderson ES, Zhao X, Dziura J, Hawk KF, McCormack RP, Saxon A, D'Onofrio G. High-Dose Buprenorphine Induction in the Emergency Department for Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder. JAMA Network Open. 2021 Jul 15;4(7):e2117128.

- 185. Herring AA, Snyder H, Moulin A, Luftig J, Sampson A, Trozky R, Windels S. Buprenorphine Guide [Internet]. ED-BRIDGE; 2018 Aug. Available from: https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5adf7f1fa2772cb4f86018b2/t/5b784d90575d1 fcc4911ca21/1534610841797/ED+BRIDGE+BUP+GUIDE+-+AUGUST+2018.pdf
- 186. Martin SA, Chiodo LM, Bosse JD, Wilson A. The Next Stage of Buprenorphine Care for Opioid Use Disorder. Annals of Internal Medicine. American College of Physicians; 2018 Oct 23;169(9):628–635.
- 187. Hawk K, D'Onofrio G. Emergency department screening and interventions for substance use disorders. Addict Sci Clin Pract [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2019 May 28];13. Available from: https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6077851/ PMCID: PMC6077851
- 188. Ferrise A. Have opioid deaths in Northeast Ohio finally crested? Evidence suggests yes [Internet]. cleveland.com. 2018 [cited 2019 May 28]. Available from: https://www.cleveland.com/ metro/2018/05/have_opioid_deaths_in_northeas.html
- 189. Vestal C. Facing an overdose epidemic, some ERs now offer addiction treatment. Washington Post [Internet]. 2018 Oct 28 [cited 2019 May 28]; Available from: https://www.washingtonpost.com/national/health-science/facing-an-overdose-epidemic-some-ers-now-offer-addiction-treatment/2018/10/26/1829df84-c73f-11e8-9b1c-a90f1daae309_story.html?noredirect=on&utm_term=.0ccf94722cf7
- 190. America College of Emergency Physicians. BUPE: Buprenorphine use in the Emergency Department Tool [Internet]. American College of Emergency Physicians. 2021 [cited 2021 Dec 8]. Available from: https://www.acep.org/patient-care/bupe/
- 191. American Hospital Association. Fast Facts on U.S. Hospitals, 2019 [Internet]. American Hospital Association. 2019 [cited 2019 May 29]. Available from: https://www.aha.org/statistics/fast-facts-us-hospitals
- 192. Peterson C, Li M, Xu L, Mikosz CA, Luo F. Assessment of Annual Cost of Substance Use Disorder in US Hospitals. JAMA Network Open. 2021 Mar 5;4(3):e210242.
- 193. Peterson C, Xu L, Mikosz CA, Florence C, Mack KA. US hospital discharges documenting patient opioid use disorder without opioid overdose or treatment services, 2011–2015. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2018 Sep;92:35–39. PMCID: PMC6084454
- 194. Liebschutz JM, Crooks D, Herman D, Anderson B, Tsui J, Meshesha LZ, Dossabhoy S, Stein M. Buprenorphine treatment for hospitalized, opioid-dependent patients: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Intern Med. 2014 Aug;174(8):1369–1376. PMCID: PMC4811188
- Wakeman SE, Kane M, Powell E, Howard S, Shaw C, Regan S. Impact of Inpatient Addiction Consultation on Hospital Readmission. J GEN INTERN MED. 2021 Jul 1;36(7):2161–2163.
- 196. Englander H, Weimer M, Solotaroff R, Nicolaidis C, Chan B, Velez C, Noice A, Hartnett T, Blackburn E, Barnes P, Korthuis PT. Planning and Designing the Improving Addiction Care Team (IMPACT) for Hospitalized Adults with Substance Use Disorder. J Hosp Med. 2017;12(5):339–342. PMCID: PMC5542562

- 197. Cushman PA, Liebschutz JM, Anderson BJ, Moreau MR, Stein MD. Buprenorphine Initiation and Linkage to Outpatient Buprenorphine do not Reduce Frequency of Injection Opiate Use Following Hospitalization. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2016 Sep;68:68–73. PMCID: PMC5018431
- 198. Lee CS, Liebschutz JM, Anderson BJ, Stein MD. Hospitalized opioid-dependent patients: Exploring predictors of buprenorphine treatment entry and retention after discharge. Am J Addict. 2017 Oct;26(7):667–672. PMCID: PMC5608622
- 199. Chan ACH, Palepu A, Guh DP, Sun H, Schechter MT, O'Shaughnessy MV, Anis AH. HIV-positive injection drug users who leave the hospital against medical advice: the mitigating role of methadone and social support. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2004 Jan 1;35(1):56–59. PMID: 14707793
- 200. Boston Medical Center. Faster Paths to Treatment [Internet]. Boston Medical Center. 2019 [cited 2019 May 29]. Available from: https://www.bmc.org/programs/faster-paths-to-treatment
- 201. Ramirez O. UK's First Bridge Clinic Offers Immediate Access to Opioid Treatment [Internet]. UKNow. 2019 [cited 2019 May 31]. Available from: https://uknow.uky.edu/research/uks-first-bridge-clinic-offers-immediate-access-opioid-treatment
- 202. Public Health Institute. BRIDGE Treatment Starts Here [Internet]. BRIDGE - Treatment Starts Here. 2019 [cited 2019 Dec 30]. Available from: https://www.bridgetotreatment.org
- 203. California Health Care Foundation. Support for Hospital Opioid Use Treatment (Project SHOUT) [Internet]. California Health Care Foundation. 2019 [cited 2019 Dec 30]. Available from: https:// www.chcf.org/project/support-hospital-opioid-use-treatmentproject-shout/
- 204. Englander H, Mahoney S, Brandt K, Brown J, Dorfman C, Nydahl A, Weimer M, Gregg J. Tools to Support Hospital-Based Addiction Care: Core Components, Values, and Activities of the Improving Addiction Care Team. J Addict Med. 2019 Apr;13(2):85–89. PMID: 30608265
- 205. Bottner R, Harvey JB, Baysinger AN, Mason K, Patel S, Boulton A, Christian N, Walker B, Moriates C. The development and implementation of a "B-Team" (buprenorphine team) to treat hospitalized patients with opioid use disorder. Healthcare. 2021 Dec 1;9(4):100579.
- 206. Latkin CA, Davey MA, Hua W. Needle exchange program utilization and entry into drug user treatment: is there a longterm connection in Baltimore, Maryland? Subst Use Misuse. 2006;41(14):1991–2001. PMID: 17162601
- 207. Hadland SE, Park TW, Bagley SM. Stigma associated with medication treatment for young adults with opioid use disorder: a case series. Addict Sci Clin Pract. 2018 May 7;13(1):15. PMID: 29730987
- 208. Greenfield BL, Owens MD, Ley D. Opioid use in Albuquerque, New Mexico: a needs assessment of recent changes and treatment availability. Addict Sci Clin Pract. 2014 Jun 18;9:10. PMCID: PMC4070335
- 209. Summers PJ, Hellman JL, MacLean MR, Rees VW, Wilkes MS. Negative experiences of pain and withdrawal create barriers to abscess care for people who inject heroin. A mixed methods analysis. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2018 01;190:200–208. PMID: 30055424

- 210. National Harm Reduciton Coalition. Harm Reduction Principles [Internet]. National Harm Reduction Coalition. 2020 [cited 2021 Oct 22]. Available from: https://harmreduction.org/about-us/ principles-of-harm-reduction/
- 211. Beaulieu T, Hayashi K, Nosova E, Milloy M-J, DeBeck K, Wood E, Kerr T, Ti L. Effect of witnessing an overdose on the use of drug checking services among people who use illicit drugs in Vancouver, Canada. Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse. 2020 Jul 3;46(4):506–511. PMCID: PMC7382612
- 212. Long V, Arredondo J, Ti L, Grant C, DeBeck K, Milloy M-J, Lysyshyn M, Wood E, Kerr T, Hayashi K. Factors associated with drug checking service utilization among people who use drugs in a Canadian setting. Harm Reduct J. 2020 Dec 14;17(1):100. PMCID: PMC7737352
- 213. Surratt HL, Otachi JK, Williams T, Gulley J, Lockard AS, Rains R. Motivation to Change and Treatment Participation Among Syringe Service Program Utilizers in Rural Kentucky. J Rural Health. 2020 Mar;36(2):224–233. PMCID: PMC7021582
- 214. Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2016 [Internet]. U.S.C. Sect. 2242, 114–113 Dec 18, 2015. Available from: https://www.congress.gov/114/plaws/publ113/PLAW-114publ113.pdf
- 215. U.S. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. Federal Grantees May Now Use Funds to Purchase Fentanyl Test Strips [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2021 Apr 8]. Available from: https://www.samhsa.gov/newsroom/pressannouncements/202104070200
- 216. Strathdee SA, Ricketts EP, Huettner S, Cornelius L, Bishai D, Havens JR, Beilenson P, Rapp C, Lloyd JJ, Latkin CA. Facilitating entry into drug treatment among injection drug users referred from a needle exchange program: Results from a community-based behavioral intervention trial. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2006 Jul 27;83(3):225–232. PMCID: PMC2196224
- 217. Strathdee SA, Celentano DD, Shah N, Lyles C, Stambolis VA, Macalino G, Nelson K, Vlahov D. Needle-exchange attendance and health care utilization promote entry into detoxification. J Urban Health. 1999 Dec;76(4):448–460. PMCID: PMC3456698
- 218. Havens JR, Latkin CA, Pu M, Cornelius LJ, Bishai D, Huettner S, Rapp C, Ricketts EP, Lloyd JJ, Strathdee SA. Predictors of opiate agonist treatment retention among injection drug users referred from a needle exchange program. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2009 Apr;36(3):306–312. PMID: 18835681
- 219. Kral AH, Anderson R, Flynn NM, Bluthenthal RN. Injection risk behaviors among clients of syringe exchange programs with different syringe dispensation policies. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2004 Oct 1;37(2):1307–1312. PMID: 15385739
- Rich JD, Adashi EY. Ideological Anachronism Involving Needle and Syringe Exchange Programs: Lessons From the Indiana HIV Outbreak. JAMA. 2015 Jul 7;314(1):23–24.
- 221. Bluthenthal RN, Kral AH, Erringer EA, Edlin BR. Drug Paraphernalia Laws and Injection-Related Infectious Disease Risk among Drug Injectors. Journal of Drug Issues. 1999 Jan 1;29(1):1–16.
- 222. Davis CS, Carr DH, Samuels EA. Paraphernalia Laws, Criminalizing Possession and Distribution of Items Used to Consume Illicit Drugs, and Injection-Related Harm. American Journal of Public Health. 2019;109(11):1564–1567.

- 223. Nguyen TQ, Weir BW, Des Jarlais DC, Pinkerton SD, Holtgrave DR. Syringe Exchange in the United States: A National Level Economic Evaluation of Hypothetical Increases in Investment. AIDS Behav. 2014 Nov 1;18(11):2144–2155.
- 224. Davis CS, Burris S, Kraut-Becher J, Lynch KG, Metzger D. Effects of an Intensive Street-Level Police Intervention on Syringe Exchange Program Use in Philadelphia, Pa. Am J Public Health. 2005 Feb 1;95(2):233–236.
- 225. Carroll JJ. Auras of Detection: Power and Knowledge in Drug Prohibition. Contemporary Drug Problems. SAGE Publications Inc; 2021 Dec 1;48(4):327–345.
- 226. Hagan H, McGough JP, Thiede H, Hopkins S, Duchin J, Alexander ER. Reduced injection frequency and increased entry and retention in drug treatment associated with needle-exchange participation in Seattle drug injectors. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2000 Oct;19(3):247–252. PMID: 11027894
- 227. Brooner R, Kidorf M, King V, Beilenson P, Svikis D, Vlahov D. Drug abuse treatment success among needle exchange participants. Public Health Rep. 1998 Jun;113(Suppl 1):129–139. PMCID: PMC1307735
- 228. Bachhuber MA, Thompson C, Prybylowski A, Benitez J, Mazzella S, Barclay D. Description and outcomes of a buprenorphine maintenance treatment program integrated within Prevention Point Philadelphia, an urban syringe exchange program. Subst Abus. 2018;39(2):167–172. PMID: 29474119
- 229. Shah NG, Celentano DD, Vlahov D, Stambolis V, Johnson L, Nelson KE, Strathdee SA. Correlates of enrollment in methadone maintenance treatment programs differ by HIV-serostatus. AIDS. 2000 Sep 8;14(13):2035–2043. PMID: 10997409
- 230. U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Tribal Syringe Services Program Helps Reduce Harm from Injection Drug Use [Internet]. Public Health Professionals Gateway. 2020 [cited 2021 Oct 29]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/publichealthgateway/field-notes/2020/cherokee-hepatitis.html
- 231. Prevention Point Philadelphia. STEP | Prevention Point [Internet]. Prevention Point. 2020 [cited 2020 Dec 6]. Available from: https://ppponline.org/medical-services/step
- 232. Howard Center. Opiate Use & Medication Assisted Treatment [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2019 May 31]. Available from: http://howardcenter.org/substance-use/opiate-use-medication-assisted-treatment/
- 233. Howard Center. Syringe Exchange and Overdose Prevention [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2019 May 31]. Available from: http://howardcenter.org/substance-use/needle-exchange-free-hivhepatitis-screening/
- 234. Indiana State Department of Health. Needle Exchange for Scott County Only Now in Effect [Internet]. Indiana State Department of Health; 2015 [cited 2020 Oct 1]. Available from: https://www.state.in.us/isdh/files/April_4_Needle_Exchange_For_Scott_County_Only_Now_In_Effect.pdf
- 235. Harrington D. The Kraft Center for Community Health at MGH mobilizes care for opioid use disorder to Boston's most vulnerable [Internet]. Boston Health Care for the Homeless Program. 2018 [cited 2019 May 31]. Available from: https://www.bhchp.org/blog/kraft-center-community-health-mgh-mobilizes-care-opioid-use-disorder-bostons-most-vulnerable

- 236. Hood JE, Banta-Green CJ, Duchin JS, Breuner J, Dell W, Finegood B, Glick SN, Hamblin M, Holcomb S, Mosse D, Oliphant-Wells T, Shim M-HM. Engaging an unstably housed population with low-barrier buprenorphine treatment at a syringe services program: Lessons learned from Seattle, Washington. Substance Abuse. 2019 Aug 12;0(0):1–9. PMID: 31403907
- 237. Carter J, Zevin B, Lum PJ. Low barrier buprenorphine treatment for persons experiencing homelessness and injecting heroin in San Francisco. Addiction Science & Clinical Practice. 2019 May 6;14(1):20.
- 238. Howard H. Experiences of opioid-dependent women in their prenatal and postpartum care: Implications for social workers in health care. Soc Work Health Care. 2016;55(1):61–85. PMID: 26720672
- Mittal L, Suzuki J. Feasibility of collaborative care treatment of opioid use disorders with buprenorphine during pregnancy. Subst Abus. 2017 Sep;38(3):261–264. PMID: 26672650
- 240. Seibert J, Stockdale H, Feinberg R, Dobbins E, Theis E, Karon SL. State Policy Levers for Expanding Family-Centered Medication-Assisted Treatment [Internet]. U.S. Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation; 2019 [cited 2019 Jun 20]. Available from: https://aspe.hhs.gov/basic-report/state-policy-levers-expanding-family-centered-medication-assisted-treatment#framework
- 241. Brandt L, Finnegan LP. Neonatal abstinence syndrome: where are we, and where do we go from here? Curr Opin Psychiatry. 2017 Jul;30(4):268–274. PMID: 28426544
- 242. Schiff DM, Nielsen T, Terplan M, Hood M, Bernson D, Diop H, Bharel M, Wilens TE, LaRochelle M, Walley AY, Land T. Fatal and Nonfatal Overdose Among Pregnant and Postpartum Women in Massachusetts. Obstet Gynecol. 2018 Aug;132(2):466–474. PMCID: PMC6060005
- 243. Latuskie KA, Andrews NCZ, Motz M, Leibson T, Austin Z, Ito S, Pepler DJ. Reasons for substance use continuation and discontinuation during pregnancy: A qualitative study. Women and Birth. 2019 Feb 1;32(1):e57–e64.
- 244. Committee on Obstetric Practice. Committee Opinion No. 711: Opioid Use and Opioid Use Disorder in Pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol. 2017;130(2):e81–e94. PMID: 28742676
- 245. Terplan M, Minkoff H. Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome and Ethical Approaches to the Identification of Pregnant Women Who Use Drugs. Obstet Gynecol. 2017;129(1):164–167. PMID: 27926654
- 246. Angelotta C, Weiss CJ, Angelotta JW, Friedman RA. A Moral or Medical Problem? The Relationship between Legal Penalties and Treatment Practices for Opioid Use Disorders in Pregnant Women. Womens Health Issues. 2016 Dec;26(6):595–601. PMID: 27773527
- 247. ACOG Committee on Health Care for Underserved Women, American Society of Addiction Medicine. ACOG Committee Opinion No. 524: Opioid abuse, dependence, and addiction in pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol. 2012 May;119(5):1070–1076. PMID: 22525931
- 248. Saia KA, Schiff D, Wachman EM, Mehta P, Vilkins A, Sia M, Price J, Samura T, DeAngelis J, Jackson CV, Emmer SF, Shaw D, Bagley S. Caring for Pregnant Women with Opioid Use Disorder in the USA: Expanding and Improving Treatment. Curr Obstet Gynecol Rep. 2016;5(3):257–263. PMCID: PMC4981621

- 249. Jansson LM, Di Pietro JA, Elko A, Williams EL, Milio L, Velez M. Pregnancies exposed to methadone, methadone and other illicit substances, and poly-drugs without methadone: a comparison of fetal neurobehaviors and infant outcomes. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2012 May 1;122(3):213–219. PMCID: PMC3288292
- 250. Meyer M, Paranya G, Keefer Norris A, Howard D. Intrapartum and postpartum analgesia for women maintained on buprenorphine during pregnancy. Eur J Pain. 2010 Oct;14(9):939–943. PMID: 20444630
- 251. Meyer M, Wagner K, Benvenuto A, Plante D, Howard D. Intrapartum and postpartum analgesia for women maintained on methadone during pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol. 2007 Aug;110(2 Pt 1):261–266. PMID: 17666599
- 252. Klaman SL, Isaacs K, Leopold A, Perpich J, Hayashi S, Vender J, Campopiano M, Jones HE. Treating Women Who Are Pregnant and Parenting for Opioid Use Disorder and the Concurrent Care of Their Infants and Children: Literature Review to Support National Guidance. J Addict Med. 2017 May;11(3):178–190. PMCID: PMC5457836
- 253. Jones HE, Jansson LM, O'Grady KE, Kaltenbach K. The relationship between maternal methadone dose at delivery and neonatal outcome: methodological and design considerations. Neurotoxicol Teratol. 2013 Oct;39:110–115. PMCID: PMC3793207
- 254. Kaltenbach K, Holbrook A, Coyle MG, Heil SH, Salisbury A, Stine S, Martin P, Jones H. Predicting Treatment for Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome in Infants Born to Women Maintained on Opioid Agonist Medication. Addiction. 2012 Nov;107(0 1):45–52. PMCID: PMC4268864
- 255. Abrahams RR, MacKay-Dunn MH, Nevmerjitskaia V, MacRae GS, Payne SP, Hodgson ZG. An evaluation of rooming-in among substance-exposed newborns in British Columbia. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2010 Sep;32(9):866–871. PMID: 21050520
- 256. Hodgson ZG, Abrahams RR. A rooming-in program to mitigate the need to treat for opiate withdrawal in the newborn. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2012 May;34(5):475–481. PMID: 22555142
- 257. Hahn M, Sheran N, Weber S, Cohan D, Obedin-Maliver J. Providing Patient-Centered Perinatal Care for Transgender Men and Gender-Diverse Individuals: A Collaborative Multidisciplinary Team Approach. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2019 Nov;134(5):959–963.
- Light AD, Obedin-Maliver J, Sevelius JM, Kerns JL. Transgender men who experienced pregnancy after female-to-male gender transitioning. Obstet Gynecol. 2014 Dec;124(6):1120–1127.
 PMID: 25415163
- 259. Ellis SA, Wojnar DM, Pettinato M. Conception, pregnancy, and birth experiences of male and gender variant gestational parents: it's how we could have a family. J Midwifery Womens Health. 2015 Feb;60(1):62–69. PMID: 25196302
- 260. National Perinatal Association. NPA Position Statement 2017: Perinatal Substance Use [Internet]. National Perinatal Association; 2017 [cited 2020 Aug 9]. Available from: http://www.nationalperinatal.org/resources/Documents/Position%20 Papers/2017_Perinatal%20Substance%20Use_NPA%20 Position%20Statement.pdf

- 261. Illinois Perinatal Quality Collaborative. Mothers and Newborns affected by Opioids (MNO)-OB Initiative | Illinois Perinatal Quality Collaborative [Internet]. ILPQC. 2019 [cited 2019 Jun 20]. Available from: http://ilpqc.org/MNO-OB
- 262. Illinois Perinatal Quality Collaborative. Mothers and Newborns affected by Opioids (MNO)-Neonatal Initiative | Illinois Perinatal Quality Collaborative [Internet]. ILPQC. 2019 [cited 2019 Jun 20]. Available from: http://ilpqc.org/node/115
- 263. Patrick SW, Barfield WD, Poindexter BB, Committee on Fetus and Newborn C on SU and P. Neonatal Opioid Withdrawal Syndrome. Pediatrics [Internet]. American Academy of Pediatrics; 2020 Nov 1 [cited 2021 Oct 29];146(5). Available from: https://pediatrics. aappublications.org/content/146/5/e2020029074 PMID: 33106341
- 264. U.S. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services
 Administration. Key Substance Use and Mental Health Indicators
 in the United States: Results from the 2019 National Survey
 on Drug Use and Health [Internet]. Rockville, MD: Center for
 Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality, Substance Abuse and
 Mental Health Services Administration; 2020. Available from:
 https://www.samhsa.gov/data/report/2019-nsduh-annualnational-report
- 265. Jones CM, McCance-Katz EF. Co-occurring substance use and mental disorders among adults with opioid use disorder. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2019 01;197:78–82. PMID: 30784952
- 266. Chan Y-F, Huang H, Bradley K, Unützer J. Referral for substance abuse treatment and depression improvement among patients with co-occurring disorders seeking behavioral health services in primary care. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2014 Feb;46(2):106–112. PMID: 24095002
- 267. Burnam MA, Watkins KE. Substance abuse with mental disorders: specialized public systems and integrated care. Health Aff (Millwood). 2006 Jun;25(3):648–658. PMID: 16684728
- 268. Drake RE, O'Neal EL, Wallach MA. A systematic review of psychosocial research on psychosocial interventions for people with co-occurring severe mental and substance use disorders. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2008 Jan;34(1):123–138. PMID: 17574803
- 269. Naeger S, Mutter R, Ali MM, Mark T, Hughey L. Post-Discharge Treatment Engagement Among Patients with an Opioid-Use Disorder. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2016;69:64–71. PMID: 27568512
- 270. Harnish A, Corrigan P, Byrne T, Pinals DA, Rodrigues S, Smelson D. Substance Use and Mental Health Stigma in Veterans With Co-Occurring Disorders. J Dual Diagn. 2016 Dec;12(3–4):238–243. PMID: 27723432
- 271. Chhatre S, Cook R, Mallik E, Jayadevappa R. Trends in substance use admissions among older adults. BMC Health Serv Res. 2017 Aug 22;17(1):584. PMCID: PMC5568321
- 272. Zaller N, Gillani FS, Rich JD. A model of integrated primary care for HIV-positive patients with underlying substance use and mental illness. AIDS Care. 2007 Oct;19(9):1128–1133. PMID: 18058396
- 273. King VL, Brooner RK, Peirce J, Kolodner K, Kidorf M. Challenges and outcomes of parallel care for patients with co-occurring psychiatric disorder in methadone maintenance treatment. J Dual Diagn. 2014;10(2):60–67. PMCID: PMC4070518

- 274. Finlay AK, Stimmel M, Blue-Howells J, Rosenthal J, McGuire J, Binswanger I, Smelson D, Harris AHS, Frayne SM, Bowe T, Timko C. Use of Veterans Health Administration Mental Health and Substance Use Disorder Treatment After Exiting Prison: The Health Care for Reentry Veterans Program. Adm Policy Ment Health. 2017 Mar;44(2):177–187. PMCID: PMC4916025
- 275. Amodeo M, Chassler D, Ferguson F, Fitzgerald T, Lundgren L. Use of mental health and substance abuse treatment services by female injection drug users. Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse. 2004;30(1):101–120. PMID: 15083556
- 276. Nam E, Matejkowski J, Lee S. Racial/Ethnic Differences in Contemporaneous Use of Mental Health and Substance Use Treatment Among Individuals Experiencing Both Mental Illness and Substance Use Disorders. Psychiatr Q. 2017;88(1):185–198. PMID: 27271529
- 277. Boston Health Care for the Homeless Program. Behavioral Health [Internet]. Boston Health Care for the Homeless Program. 2014 [cited 2019 May 29]. Available from: https://www.bhchp.org/behavioral-health
- 278. U.S. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services
 Administration. Section 223 Demonstration Program for
 Certified Community Behavioral Health Clinics [Internet].
 SAMHSA. 2018 [cited 2020 Dec 6]. Available from: https://www.samhsa.gov/section-223
- Cascadia. CCBHC [Internet]. Cascadia Behavioral Healthcare. [cited 2020 Dec 6]. Available from: https://cascadiabhc.org/about/ccbhc/
- 280. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.
 Trends in Substance Use Disorders among Males Aged 18 to 49
 on Probation or Parole | CBHSQ Data [Internet]. SAMHSA. 2014
 [cited 2019 Dec 31]. Available from: https://www.samhsa.gov/data/report/trends-substance-use-disorders-among-males-aged-18-49-probation-or-parole
- 281. Brinkley-Rubinstein L, Zaller N, Martino S, Cloud DH, McCauley E, Heise A, Seal D. Criminal justice continuum for opioid users at risk of overdose. Addict Behav. 2018;86:104–110. PMID: 29544869
- 282. Dolan KA, Shearer J, MacDonald M, Mattick RP, Hall W, Wodak AD. A randomised controlled trial of methadone maintenance treatment versus wait list control in an Australian prison system. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2003 Oct 24;72(1):59–65. PMID: 14563543
- 283. McKenzie M, Zaller N, Dickman SL, Green TC, Parihk A, Friedmann PD, Rich JD. A randomized trial of methadone initiation prior to release from incarceration. Subst Abus. 2012;33(1):19–29. PMCID: PMC3278074
- 284. Gordon MS, Kinlock TW, Schwartz RP, Fitzgerald TT, O'Grady KE, Vocci FJ. A randomized controlled trial of prison-initiated buprenorphine: prison outcomes and community treatment entry. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2014 Sep 1;142:33–40. PMCID: PMC4129444
- 285. Lee JD, McDonald R, Grossman E, McNeely J, Laska E, Rotrosen J, Gourevitch MN. Opioid treatment at release from jail using extended-release naltrexone: a pilot proof-of-concept randomized effectiveness trial. Addiction. 2015 Jun;110(6):1008–1014. PMID: 25703440

- 286. Green TC, Clarke J, Brinkley-Rubinstein L, Marshall BDL, Alexander-Scott N, Boss R, Rich JD. Postincarceration Fatal Overdoses After Implementing Medications for Addiction Treatment in a Statewide Correctional System. JAMA Psychiatry. 2018 Apr 1;75(4):405–407.
- 287. Wakeman SE, Bowman SE, McKenzie M, Jeronimo A, Rich JD. Preventing death among the recently incarcerated: an argument for naloxone prescription before release. J Addict Dis. 2009;28(2):124–129. PMCID: PMC2851239
- 288. Federal Bureau of Prisons. BOP Statistics: Sentences Imposed [Internet]. Statistics. 2019 [cited 2019 Dec 31]. Available from: https://www.bop.gov/about/statistics/statistics_inmate_sentences.jsp
- 289. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. Use of Medication-Assisted Treatment for Opioid Use Disorder in Criminal Justice Settings [Internet]. Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (US); 2019. Report No.: PEP19-MATUSECJS. Available from: https://store. samhsa.gov/system/files/guide_4-0712_final_-_section_508_ compliant.pdf
- Aronowitz SV, Laurent J. Screaming Behind a Door: The Experiences of Individuals Incarcerated Without Medication-Assisted Treatment. J Correct Health Care. 2016 Apr;22(2):98– 108. PMID: 26984133
- 291. Brinkley-Rubinstein L, Cloud DH, Davis C, Zaller N, Delany-Brumsey A, Pope L, Martino S, Bouvier B, Rich J. Addressing excess risk of overdose among recently incarcerated people in the USA: harm reduction interventions in correctional settings. Int J Prison Health. 2017 Mar 13;13(1):25–31. PMID: 28299971
- 292. Brady TM, Salvucci S, Sverdlov LS, Male A, Kyeyune H, Sikali E, DeSale S, Yu P. Methadone dosage and retention: an examination of the 60 mg/day threshold. J Addict Dis. 2005;24(3):23–47. PMID: 16186081
- Prendergast ML, Hall EA, Grossman J, Veliz R, Gregorio L, Warda US, Van Unen K, Knight C. Effectiveness of Using Incentives to Improve Parolee Admission and Attendance in Community Addiction Treatment. Crim Justice Behav. 2015 Oct;42(10):1008– 1031. PMCID: PMC5358665
- 294. Rich JD, McKenzie M, Larney S, Wong JB, Tran L, Clarke J, Noska A, Reddy M, Zaller N. Methadone continuation versus forced withdrawal on incarceration in a combined US prison and jail: a randomised, open-label trial. The Lancet. 2015 Jul 25;386(9991):350–359. PMID: 26028120, 26028120
- 295. Magura S, Lee JD, Hershberger J, Joseph H, Marsch L, Shropshire C, Rosenblum A. Buprenorphine and methadone maintenance in jail and post-release: a randomized clinical trial. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2009 Jan 1;99(1–3):222–230. PMCID: PMC2658719
- 296. Kinlock TW, Gordon MS, Schwartz RP, Fitzgerald TT, O'Grady KE. A randomized clinical trial of methadone maintenance for prisoners: results at 12 months postrelease. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2009 Oct;37(3):277–285. PMCID: PMC2803487
- 297. Schwartz RP, Kelly SM, Mitchell SG, Gryczynski J, O'Grady KE, Jaffe JH. Initiating methadone in jail and in the community: Patient differences and implications of methadone treatment for reducing arrests. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2019 Feb;97:7–13. PMCID: PMC6310067

- 298. Schwartz RP, Mitchell MM, O'Grady KE, Kelly SM, Gryczynski J, Mitchell SG, Gordon MS, Jaffe JH. Pharmacotherapy for Opioid Addiction in Community Corrections. Int Rev Psychiatry. 2018 Oct;30(5):117–135. PMCID: PMC6551322
- 299. California Health Care Foundation. Medication-Assisted
 Treatment in Correctional Settings [Internet]. California Health
 Care Foundation. 2018 [cited 2019 Jul 17]. Available from:
 https://www.chcf.org/project/medication-assisted-treatment-in-correctional-settings/
- 300. National Sheriffs' Association, National Commission on Correctional Health Care. Jail-Based MAT: Promising Practices, Guidelines and Resources [Internet]. National Commission on Correctional Health Care; 2018 [cited 2019 Jul 17]. Available from: https://www.ncchc.org/filebin/Resources/Jail-Based-MAT-PPG-web.pdf
- Merrall ELC, Kariminia A, Binswanger IA, Hobbs MS, Farrell M, Marsden J, Hutchinson SJ, Bird SM. Meta-analysis of drugrelated deaths soon after release from prison. Addiction. 2010 Sep;105(9):1545–1554. PMCID: PMC2955973
- 302. Binswanger IA, Stern MF, Deyo RA, Heagerty PJ, Cheadle A, Elmore JG, Koepsell TD. Release from Prison A High Risk of Death for Former Inmates. New England Journal of Medicine. 2007 Jan 11;356(2):157–165. PMID: 17215533
- 303. Massachusetts Department of Public Health. An Assessment of Opioid-Related Deaths in Massachusetts (2013-2014) [Internet]. Boston, MA: Department of Public Health; 2016. Available from: http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/docs/dph/stop-addiction/dph-legislative-report-chapter-55-opioid-overdose-study-9-15-2016.pdf
- 304. Sawyer W, Wagner P. Mass Incarceration: The Whole Pie 2020 [Internet]. Prison Policy Initiative. 2020 [cited 2020 Oct 1]. Available from: https://www.prisonpolicy.org/reports/pie2020.html
- 305. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (4th ed., text revision). Washington DC: Author; 2000.
- 306. Compton WM, Dawson DA, Goldstein RB, Grant BF. Crosswalk between DSM-IV Dependence and DSM-5 Substance Use Disorders for Opioids, Cannabis, Cocaine and Alcohol. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2013 Sep 1;132(0):387–390. PMCID: PMC3748225
- 307. Williams T. Opioid Users Are Filling Jails. Why Don't Jails Treat Them? The New York Times [Internet]. 2017 Aug 4 [cited 2019 Jul 22]; Available from: https://www.nytimes.com/2017/08/04/us/heroin-addiction-jails-methadone-suboxone-treatment.html
- Matusow H, Dickman SL, Rich JD, Fong C, Dumont DM, Hardin C, Marlowe D, Rosenblum A. Medication Assisted Treatment in US Drug Courts: Results from a Nationwide Survey of Availability, Barriers and Attitudes. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2013 May;44(5):473–480. PMCID: PMC3602216
- 309. Wagner P. Incarceration is not an equal opportunity punishment [Internet]. Prison Policy Initiative. 2012 [cited 2019 Dec 31]. Available from: https://www.prisonpolicy.org/articles/notequal.html
- 310. Krieger N. Embodying Inequality: A Review of Concepts, Measures, and Methods for Studying Health Consequences of Discrimination. Embodying Inequality: Epidemiologic Perspectives. New York: Baywood Pub. Co.; 2005. p. 101–105.

- 311. Frimpong JA, Shiu-Yee K, D'Aunno T. The Role of Program Directors in Treatment Practices: The Case of Methadone Dose Patterns in U.S. Outpatient Opioid Agonist Treatment Programs. Health Services Research. 2017;52(5):1881–1907.
- Mossey JM. Defining racial and ethnic disparities in pain management. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2011 Jul;469(7):1859–1870. PMCID: PMC3111792
- Stepanikova I, Oates GR. Perceived Discrimination and Privilege in Health Care: The Role of Socioeconomic Status and Race. Am J Prev Med. 2017 Jan;52(1S1):S86–S94. PMCID: PMC5172593
- 314. Tipps RT, Buzzard GT, McDougall JA. The Opioid Epidemic in Indian Country. J Law Med Ethics. 2018 Jun;46(2):422–436. PMID: 30146999
- 315. Panchal N, Garfield R, Cox C, Artiga S. Substance Use Issues Are Worsening Alongside Access to Care [Internet]. Henry J Kaiser Family Foundation; 2021 Aug. Available from: https://www.kff.org/policy-watch/substance-use-issues-are-worsening-alongside-access-to-care/
- 316. Brave Heart MYH, Lewis-Fernández R, Beals J, Hasin DS, Sugaya L, Wang S, Grant BF, Blanco C. Psychiatric Disorders and Mental Health Treatment in American Indians and Alaska Natives: Results of the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. 2016 Jul;51(7):1033–1046. PMCID: PMC4947559
- 317. Council NR, Education D of B and SS and, Education C on B and SS and, Population C on. Changing Numbers, Changing Needs: American Indian Demography and Public Health. National Academies Press; 1996.
- 318. Jim MA, Arias E, Seneca DS, Hoopes MJ, Jim CC, Johnson NJ, Wiggins CL. Racial misclassification of American Indians and Alaska Natives by Indian Health Service Contract Health Service Delivery Area. Am J Public Health. 2014 Jun;104 Suppl 3:S295-302. PMCID: PMC4035863
- 319. Joshi S, Weiser T, Warren-Mears V. Drug, Opioid-Involved, and Heroin-Involved Overdose Deaths Among American Indians and Alaska Natives Washington, 1999-2015. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2018 Dec 21;67(50):1384–1387. PMCID: PMC6342552
- 320. Venner KL, Donovan DM, Campbell ANC, Wendt DC, Rieckmann T, Radin SM, Momper SL, Rosa CL. Future directions for medication assisted treatment for opioid use disorder with American Indian/Alaska Natives. Addict Behav. 2018 Nov;86:111–117. PMCID: PMC6129390
- 321. Rieckmann T, Moore L, Croy C, Aarons GA, Novins DK. National Overview of Medication-Assisted Treatment for American Indians and Alaska Natives With Substance Use Disorders. PS. 2017 Jul 17;68(11):1136–1143.
- 322. Whitesell NR, Beals J, Crow CB, Mitchell CM, Novins DK. Epidemiology and Etiology of Substance Use among American Indians and Alaska Natives: Risk, Protection, and Implications for Prevention. Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse. 2012 Sep;38(5):376–382. PMCID: PMC4436971
- 323. Brave Heart MYH. The Historical Trauma Response Among Natives and Its Relationship with Substance Abuse: A Lakota Illustration. Journal of psychoactive drugs. 2003;35(1):7–13.

- 324. Brave Heart MYH, Elkins J, Tafoya G, Bird D, Salvador M. Wicasa Was'aka: Restoring the Traditional Strength of American Indian Boys and Men. Am J Public Health. 2012 May;102(Suppl 2):S177–S183. PMCID: PMC3477903
- 325. Cloud Ramirez L, Hammack PL. Surviving colonization and the quest for healing: narrative and resilience among California Indian tribal leaders. Transcult Psychiatry. 2014 Feb;51(1):112–133. PMID: 24459128
- 326. Shea H, Mosley-Howard GS, Baldwin D, Ironstrack G, Rousmaniere K, Schroer JE. Cultural revitalization as a restorative process to combat racial and cultural trauma and promote living well. Cultur Divers Ethnic Minor Psychol. 2019 Feb 7; PMID: 30730153
- 327. Ward CJ, Cope MR, Elmont L. Native American Vietnam-era Veterans' Access to VA Healthcare: Vulnerability and Resilience in Two Montana Reservation Communities. J Community Health. 2017 Oct;42(5):887–893. PMID: 28337577
- 328. U.S. Indian Health Service. Opioids | Indian Health Service (IHS) [Internet]. Opioid Use Disorder and Pain. 2021 [cited 2021 Oct 29]. Available from: https://www.ihs.gov/opioids/
- 329. Brown VB, Harris M, Fallot R. Moving toward trauma-informed practice in addiction treatment: a collaborative model of agency assessment. J Psychoactive Drugs. 2013 Dec;45(5):386–393. PMID: 24592664
- 330. Fishbain DA, Pulikal A, Lewis JE, Gao J. Chronic Pain Types Differ in Their Reported Prevalence of Post -Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) and There Is Consistent Evidence That Chronic Pain Is Associated with PTSD: An Evidence-Based Structured Systematic Review. Pain Med. 2017 01;18(4):711–735. PMID: 27188666
- 331. Herman JL. Recovery from psychological trauma. Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences. 1998;52(S1):S98–S103.
- 332. Herman JL. Trauma and Recovery. New York, NY: Basic Books; 1997.
- 333. Marcellus L. Supporting women with substance use issues: trauma-informed care as a foundation for practice in the NICU. Neonatal Netw. 2014 Dec;33(6):307–314. PMID: 25391589
- 334. Torchalla I, Linden IA, Strehlau V, Neilson EK, Krausz M. "Like a lots happened with my whole childhood": violence, trauma, and addiction in pregnant and postpartum women from Vancouver's Downtown Eastside. Harm Reduct J. 2015 Jan 12;11:34. PMCID: PMC4351972
- 335. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.
 Trauma-Informed Care in Behavioral Health Services [Internet].
 Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services
 Administration; 2014. Report No.: (SMA) 14-4816FULLDOC.
 Available from: https://store.samhsa.gov/product/TIP-57-Trauma-Informed-Care-in-Behavioral-Health-Services/SMA14-4816
- 336. Yule AM, Lyons RM, Wilens TE. Opioid Use Disorders in Adolescents—Updates in Assessment and Management. Curr Pediatr Rep. 2018 Jun;6(2):99–106. PMCID: PMC6422350
- 337. McCabe SE, Veliz P, Boyd CJ, Schulenberg JE. Medical and nonmedical use of prescription sedatives and anxiolytics: Adolescents' use and substance use disorder symptoms in adulthood. Addict Behav. 2017;65:296–301. PMCID: PMC5462596

- Squeglia LM, Gray KM. Alcohol and Drug Use and the Developing Brain. Curr Psychiatry Rep. 2016 May;18(5):46. PMCID: PMC4883014
- 339. American Academy of Pediatrics. Substance Use Screening and Intervention Implementation Guide [Internet]. American Academy of Pediatrics; 2016 [cited 2020 Dec 6]. Available from: https://www.aap.org/en-us/Documents/substance_use_screening_implementation.pdf
- 340. US Preventive Services Task Force. Screening for Unhealthy Drug Use US Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation Statement. JAMA. 2020 Jun 9;323(22):2310–2309.
- 341. Ozer EM, Adams SH, Lustig JL, Gee S, Garber AK, Gardner LR, Rehbein M, Addison L, Irwin CE. Increasing the screening and counseling of adolescents for risky health behaviors: a primary care intervention. Pediatrics. 2005 Apr;115(4):960–968. PMID: 15805371
- 342. Levy SJL, Williams JF, Prevention C on SUA. Substance Use Screening, Brief Intervention, and Referral to Treatment. Pediatrics. American Academy of Pediatrics; 2016 Jul 1;138(1):e20161211. PMID: 27325634
- 343. Lippard ETC, Mazure CM, Johnston JAY, Spencer L, Weathers J, Pittman B, Wang F, Blumberg HP. Brain Circuitry Associated with the Development of Substance Use in Bipolar Disorder and Preliminary Evidence for Sexual Dimorphism in Adolescents. J Neurosci Res. 2017 Jan 2;95(1–2):777–791. PMCID: PMC5123602
- 344. Chang DC, Klimas J, Wood E, Fairbairn N. Medication-Assisted Treatment for Youth with Opioid Use Disorder: Current Dilemmas and Remaining Questions. Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse. 2018;44(2):143–146. PMCID: PMC5815926
- 345. U.S. Food and Drug Administration, Division of Anesthetic, Critical Care, and Addiction Drug Products. Suboxone and Subutex NDA 20-732 approval letter [Internet]. U.S. Food and Drug Administration; 2002 [cited 2020 Dec 6]. Available from: https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/nda/2002/20-733_Subutex_Approv.pdf
- 346. Electronic Code of Federal Regulations, 42 CFR 8.12 Federal Opioid Treatment Standards. § Part 8.12—Medication Assisted Treatment for Opioid Use Disorders. [Internet]. [cited 2020 Dec 6]. Available from: https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=25e311ab0b3ac62 d80439ad2c1ba7bb2&mc=true&node=pt42.1.8&rgn=div5
- 347. Hadland SE, Wharam JF, Schuster MA, Zhang F, Samet JH, Larochelle MR. Trends in Receipt of Buprenorphine and Naltrexone for Opioid Use Disorder Among Adolescents and Young Adults, 2001-2014. JAMA Pediatr. 2017 Aug;171(8):747– 755. PMCID: PMC5649381
- 348. Feder KA, Krawczyk N, Saloner B. Medication-Assisted Treatment for Adolescents in Specialty Treatment for Opioid Use Disorder. J Adolesc Health. 2017 Jun;60(6):747–750. PMCID: PMC6003902
- 349. National Institute on Drug Abuse. Principles of Adolescent Substance Use Disorder Treatment: A Research-Based Guide [Internet]. National Institute on Drug Abuse; 2014 [cited 2020 Jan 1]. Available from: https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/principles-adolescent-substance-use-disorder-treatment-research-based-quide/acknowledgements

- 350. COMMITTEE ON SUBSTANCE USE AND PREVENTION, Ryan SA, Gonzalez PK, Patrick SW, Quigley J, Siqueira L, Walker LR. Medication-Assisted Treatment of Adolescents With Opioid Use Disorders. Pediatrics. 2016 Sep 1;138(3):e20161893.
- 351. Rowe C, Santos G-M, McFarland W, Wilson EC. Prevalence and correlates of substance use among trans female youth ages 16-24 years in the San Francisco Bay Area. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2015 Feb 1;147:160–166. PMCID: PMC4297727
- 352. National Institute on Drug Abuse. Substance Use and SUDs in LGBTQ* Populations [Internet]. National Institute on Drug Abuse. 2017 [cited 2020 Dec 6]. Available from: https://www.drugabuse.gov/drug-topics/substance-use-suds-in-lgbtq-populations
- 353. Santos G-M, Rapues J, Wilson EC, Macias O, Packer T, Colfax G, Raymond HF. Alcohol and substance use among transgender women in San Francisco: prevalence and association with human immunodeficiency virus infection. Drug Alcohol Rev. 2014 May;33(3):287–295. PMID: 24628655
- 354. Gonzales G, Henning-Smith C. Barriers to Care Among Transgender and Gender Nonconforming Adults. Milbank Q. 2017 Dec;95(4):726–748. PMCID: PMC5723709
- 355. Learmonth C, Viloria R, Lambert C, Goldhammer H, Keuroghlian AS. Barriers to insurance coverage for transgender patients. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2018 Sep;219(3):272.e1-272.e4. PMID: 29733842
- 356. Matsuzaka S. Transgressing gender norms in addiction treatment: Transgender rights to access within gender-segregated facilities. J Ethn Subst Abuse. 2018 Dec;17(4):420–433. PMID: 28632095
- 357. Reisner SL, Radix A, Deutsch MB. Integrated and Gender-Affirming Transgender Clinical Care and Research. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2016 Aug 15;72(Suppl 3):S235–S242. PMCID: PMC4969060
- 358. The World Professional Assiciation for Transgender Health.
 Standards of Care for the Health of Transsexual, Transgender,
 and Gender-Nonconforming People [Internet]. The World
 Professional Assiciation for Transgender Health; 2012 [cited 2020
 Jan 1]. Available from: https://www.wpath.org/publications/soc
- 359. Benoit C, McCarthy B, Jansson M. Stigma, sex work, and substance use: a comparative analysis. Sociol Health Illn. 2015 Mar;37(3):437–451. PMID: 25688450
- 360. Wirtz A, Peryshkina A, Moguilnyi V, Beyrer C, Decker M. Current and recent drug use intensifies sexual and structural HIV risk outcomes among female sex workers in the Russian Federation. Int J Drug Policy. 2015 Aug;26(8):755–763. PMCID: PMC4873958
- 361. Operario D, Nemoto T. Sexual risk behavior and substance use among a sample of Asian Pacific Islander transgendered women. AIDS Educ Prev. 2005 Oct;17(5):430–443. PMID: 16255639
- 362. Sausa LA, Keatley J, Operario D. Perceived risks and benefits of sex work among transgender women of color in San Francisco. Arch Sex Behav. 2007 Dec;36(6):768–777. PMID: 17674180
- 363. Morrill AC, Kasten L, Urato M, Larson MJ. Abuse, addiction, and depression as pathways to sexual risk in women and men with a history of substance abuse. J Subst Abuse. 2001;13(1–2):169– 184. PMID: 11547617

- 364. Knight KR. addicted.pregnant.poor. Duke University Press; 2015.
- 365. Lutnick A, Harris J, Lorvick J, Cheng H, Wenger LD, Bourgois P, Kral AH. Examining the associations between sex trade involvement, rape, and symptomatology of sexual abuse trauma. J Interpers Violence. 2015 Jul;30(11):1847–1863. PMCID: PMC4363006
- 366. Sawicki DA, Meffert BN, Read K, Heinz AJ. Culturally Competent Health Care for Sex Workers: An Examination of Myths That Stigmatize Sex-Work and Hinder Access to Care. Sex Relation Ther. 2019;34(3):355–371. PMCID: PMC6424363
- 367. Andrilla CHA, Coulthard C, Larson EH. Barriers Rural Physicians Face Prescribing Buprenorphine for Opioid Use Disorder. Ann Fam Med. 2017;15(4):359–362. PMCID: PMC5505456
- 368. Andrilla CHA, Patterson DG. Tracking the geographic distribution and growth of clinicians with a DEA waiver to prescribe buprenorphine to treat opioid use disorder. J Rural Health. 2021 Mar 18; PMID: 33733547
- 369. U.S. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services
 Administration. Practitioner and Program Data [Internet].
 SAMHSA. 2021 [cited 2021 Oct 23]. Available from: https://www.samhsa.gov/medication-assisted-treatment/practitioner-resources/DATA-program-data
- 370. Andrilla CHA, Moore TE, Patterson DG, Larson EH. Geographic Distribution of Providers With a DEA Waiver to Prescribe Buprenorphine for the Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder: A 5-Year Update. J Rural Health. 2019;35(1):108–112. PMID: 29923637
- 371. Hutchinson E, Catlin M, Andrilla CHA, Baldwin L-M, Rosenblatt RA. Barriers to Primary Care Physicians Prescribing Buprenorphine. Ann Fam Med. 2014 Mar;12(2):128–133. PMCID: PMC3948759
- 372. McGinty EE, Stone EM, Kennedy-Hendricks A, Bachhuber MA, Barry CL. Medication for Opioid Use Disorder: A National Survey of Primary Care Physicians. Ann Intern Med. 2020 Jul 21;173(2):160–162. PMCID: PMC8171002
- 373. Netherland J, Botsko M, Egan JE, Saxon AJ, Cunningham CO, Finkelstein R, Gourevitch MN, Renner JA, Sohler N, Sullivan LE, Weiss L, Fiellin DA, BHIVES Collaborative. Factors affecting willingness to provide buprenorphine treatment. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2009 Apr;36(3):244–251. PMCID: PMC2866292
- 374. Sorrell TR, Weber M, Alvarez A, Beste N, Hollins U, Amura CR, Cook PF. From policy to practice: Pilot program increases access to medication for opioid use disorder in rural Colorado. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2020;114:108027. PMCID: PMC7292886
- 375. LaBelle CT, Han SC, Bergeron A, Samet JH. Office-Based Opioid Treatment with Buprenorphine (OBOT-B): Statewide Implementation of the Massachusetts Collaborative Care Model in Community Health Centers. Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment. Elsevier; 2016 Jan 1;60:6–13.
- 376. Samet JH, Tsui JI, Cheng DM, Liebschutz JM, Lira MC, Walley AY, Colasanti JA, Forman LS, Root C, Shanahan CW, Sullivan MM, Bridden CL, Abrams C, Harris C, Outlaw K, Armstrong WS, Del Rio C. Improving the Delivery of Chronic Opioid Therapy among People Living with HIV: A Cluster Randomized Clinical Trial. Clin Infect Dis. 2020 Jul 22; PMID: 32697847

- 377. Turner BJ, Laine C, Lin Y-T, Lynch K. Barriers and facilitators to primary care or human immunodeficiency virus clinics providing methadone or buprenorphine for the management of opioid dependence. Arch Intern Med. 2005 Aug 8;165(15):1769–1776. PMID: 16087826
- 378. Nyamathi A, Smith DM, Shoptaw S, Mutere M, Cohen A, Amrani I, Morales L, de Castro V. Perceptions of methadone maintained clients about barriers and facilitators to help-seeking behavior. Prog Community Health Partnersh. 2007;1(4):301–309. PMID: 20208210
- 379. Cooper S, Campbell G, Larance B, Murnion B, Nielsen S. Perceived stigma and social support in treatment for pharmaceutical opioid dependence. Drug Alcohol Rev. 2018;37(2):262–272. PMID: 28884866
- 380. MacDonald K, Lamb K, Thomas ML, Khentigan W. Buprenorphine Maintenance Treatment of Opiate Dependence: Correlations Between Prescriber Beliefs and Practices. Subst Use Misuse. 2016 Jan 2;51(1):85–90. PMID: 26771870
- 381. Andraka-Christou B, Capone MJ. A qualitative study comparing physician-reported barriers to treating addiction using buprenorphine and extended-release naltrexone in U.S. office-based practices. Int J Drug Policy. 2018;54:9–17. PMID: 29324253
- 382. Matthews S, Dwyer R, Snoek A. Stigma and Self-Stigma in Addiction. J Bioeth Inq. 2017 Jun;14(2):275–286. PMCID: PMC5527047
- 383. Can G, Tanrıverdi D. Social functioning and internalized stigma in individuals diagnosed with substance use disorder. Arch Psychiatr Nurs. 2015 Dec;29(6):441–446. PMID: 26577560
- 384. Kulesza M, Watkins KE, Ober AJ, Osilla KC, Ewing B. Internalized stigma as an independent risk factor for substance use problems among primary care patients: Rationale and preliminary support. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2017 01;180:52–55. PMCID: PMC5648632
- 385. Earnshaw VA. Stigma and substance use disorders: A clinical, research, and advocacy agenda. American Psychologist. 2020;75(9):1300–1311.
- 386. Samples H, Williams AR, Olfson M, Crystal S. Risk factors for discontinuation of buprenorphine treatment for opioid use disorders in a multi-state sample of Medicaid enrollees. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2018 Dec;95:9–17. PMCID: PMC6354252
- 387. Schoeneberger ML, Logan TK, Leukefeld CG. Age differences in HIV risk behaviors and drug treatment utilization among drug users in Kentucky. Subst Use Misuse. 2001 Jun;36(6–7):867–925. PMID: 11697615
- 388. Richardson L, Wood E, Montaner J, Kerr T. Addiction treatmentrelated employment barriers: the impact of methadone maintenance. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2012 Oct;43(3):276–284. PMCID: PMC3345299
- 389. Kaiser Family Foundation. Professionally Active Primary Care Physicians by Field [Internet]. The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation. 2019 [cited 2019 Dec 30]. Available from: https://www.kff.org/other/state-indicator/primary-care-physicians-by-field/
- 390. Andrilla CHA, Coulthard C, Patterson DG. Prescribing Practices of Rural Physicians Waivered to Prescribe Buprenorphine. American Journal of Preventive Medicine. 2018 Jun 1;54(6):S208–S214. PMID: 29779544

- 391. Jones CM, McCance-Katz EF. Characteristics and prescribing practices of clinicians recently waivered to prescribe buprenorphine for the treatment of opioid use disorder. Addiction. 2019;114(3):471–482. PMID: 30194876
- 392. Binswanger IA, Stern M, Yamashita T, Mueller SR, Baggett TP, Blatchford P. Clinical risk factors for death after release from prison in Washington state: a nested case control study. Addiction. 2016;111(3):499–510.
- 393. Fox AD, Maradiaga J, Weiss L, Sanchez J, Starrels JL, Cunningham CO. Release from incarceration, relapse to opioid use and the potential for buprenorphine maintenance treatment: a qualitative study of the perceptions of former inmates with opioid use disorder. Addict Sci Clin Pract. 2015 Jan 16;10:2. PMCID: PMC4410477
- 394. Fu JJ, Zaller ND, Yokell MA, Bazazi AR, Rich JD. Forced withdrawal from methadone maintenance therapy in criminal justice settings: a critical treatment barrier in the United States. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2013 Jun;44(5):502–505. PMCID: PMC3695471
- 395. Koehn JD, Bach P, Hayashi K, Nguyen P, Kerr T, Milloy M-J, Rieb L, Wood E. Impact of incarceration on rates of methadone use in a community recruited cohort of injection drug users. Addict Behav. 2015 Jul;46:1–4. PMCID: PMC4395538
- 396. Wen H, Hockenberry JM, Borders TF, Druss BG. Impact of Medicaid Expansion on Medicaid-covered Utilization of Buprenorphine for Opioid Use Disorder Treatment. Med Care. 2017;55(4):336–341. PMID: 28296674
- 397. Reif S, Creedon TB, Horgan CM, Stewart MT, Garnick DW.
 Commercial Health Plan Coverage of Selected Treatments for
 Opioid Use Disorders from 2003 to 2014. J Psychoactive Drugs.
 2017 Jun;49(2):102–110. PMID: 28350229
- 398. Saloner B, Daubresse M, Caleb Alexander G. Patterns of Buprenorphine-Naloxone Treatment for Opioid Use Disorder in a Multistate Population. Med Care. 2017;55(7):669–676. PMCID: PMC6528471
- 399. Molfenter T, Fitzgerald M, Jacobson N, McCarty D, Quanbeck A, Zehner M. Barriers to Buprenorphine Expansion in Ohio: A Time-Elapsed Qualitative Study. J Psychoactive Drugs. 2019 Feb 7;1–8. PMID: 30732542
- 400. Manchikanti L, Helm S, Fellows B, Janata JW, Pampati V, Grider JS, Boswell MV. Opioid epidemic in the United States. Pain Physician. 2012 Jul;15(3 Suppl):ES9-38. PMID: 22786464
- Cicero TJ, Ellis MS, Chilcoat HD. Understanding the use of diverted buprenorphine. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2018 01;193:117–123. PMID: 30359928
- 402. Carroll JJ, Rich JD, Green TC. The More Things Change: Buprenorphine/naloxone Diversion Continues While Treatment Remains Inaccessible. Journal of Addiction Medicine. 2018 Dec;12(6):459–465.
- 403. Richert T, Johnson B. Long-term self-treatment with methadone or buprenorphine as a response to barriers to opioid substitution treatment: the case of Sweden. Harm Reduct J. 2015;12:1. PMCID: PMC4337060

- 404. Nosyk B, Min JE, Evans E, Li L, Liu L, Lima VD, Wood E, Montaner JSG. The Effects of Opioid Substitution Treatment and Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy on the Cause-Specific Risk of Mortality Among HIV-Positive People Who Inject Drugs. Clin Infect Dis. 2015 Oct 1;61(7):1157–1165. PMCID: PMC4560909
- 405. Callon C, Wood E, Marsh D, Li K, Montaner J, Kerr T. Barriers and facilitators to methadone maintenance therapy use among illicit opiate injection drug users in Vancouver. J Opioid Manag. 2006 Feb;2(1):35–41. PMID: 17319116
- 406. Simeone C, Shapiro B, Lum PJ. Integrated HIV care is associated with improved engagement in treatment in an urban methadone clinic. Addict Sci Clin Pract. 2017 22;12(1):19. PMCID: PMC5568716
- 407. Teruya C, Schwartz RP, Mitchell SG, Hasson AL, Thomas C, Buoncristiani SH, Hser Y-I, Wiest K, Cohen AJ, Glick N, Jacobs P, McLaughlin P, Ling W. Patient perspectives on buprenorphine/naloxone: a qualitative study of retention during the starting treatment with agonist replacement therapies (START) study. J Psychoactive Drugs. 2014 Dec;46(5):412–426. PMCID: PMC4220245
- 408. Botticelli M. Memorandum to Heads of Executive Departments and Agencies: Changing Federal Terminology Regarding Sunstance Use and Substance Use Disorders [Internet]. Executive Office of the President; 2017 [cited 2019 Nov 30]. Available from: https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/whitehouse.gov/files/images/Memo%20-%20Changing%20Federal%20 Terminology%20Regrading%20Substance%20Use%20and%20 Substance%20Use%20Disorders.pdf
- 409. Pennelle O. Language Matters: A Recovery Scientist Explains the Impact of Our Words [Internet]. The Fix. 2018 [cited 2019 Nov 30]. Available from: https://www.thefix.com/language-matters-recovery-scientist-explains-impact-our-words
- 410. Landry M. Anti-Stigma Toolkit: A Guide to Reducing Addiction-Related Stigma. 2012 Edition [Internet]. Addiction Technology Transfer Center Network; 2012. Available from: https://attcnetwork.org/sites/default/files/2019-04/Anti-Stigma%20 Toolkit.pdf
- 411. Winkelstein E. Understanding Drug-Related Stigma: Tools for Better Practice and Social Chanfe [Internet]. Harm Reduction Coalition; 2012 [cited 2019 Nov 30]. Available from: https://harmreduction.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/02/stigmafacilitators.pdf
- 412. Raymond JS, Hurwitz S. Client preference-treatment congruence as a facilitator of length of stay: supporting an old truism. Int J Addict. 1981 Apr;16(3):431–441. PMID: 7275396
- 413. Uebelacker LA, Bailey G, Herman D, Anderson B, Stein M. Patients' Beliefs About Medications are Associated with Stated Preference for Methadone, Buprenorphine, Naltrexone, or no Medication-Assisted Therapy Following Inpatient Opioid Detoxification. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2016;66:48–53. PMCID: PMC4892369

